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About LabCorp®

Laboratory Corporation of America® Holdings, an S&P 500 company, is a pioneer in 
commercializing new diagnostic technologies and the first in its industry to embrace 
genomic testing. With annual revenues of $5.5 billion in 2011, over 31,000 employees 
worldwide, and more than 220,000 clients, LabCorp offers more than 4,000 tests 
ranging from routine blood analyses to reproductive genetics to companion diagnostics. 
LabCorp furthers its scientific expertise and innovative clinical testing technology 
through its specialized labs and the LabCorp Specialty Testing Group: The Center for 
Molecular Biology and Pathology, National Genetics Institute, ViroMed Laboratories, Inc., 
The Center for Esoteric Testing, Litholink Corporation, Integrated Genetics, Integrated 
Oncology, DIANON Systems, Inc., Monogram Biosciences, Inc., Colorado Coagulation, 
and Endocrine Sciences. LabCorp conducts clinical trials testing through its Esoterix 
Clinical Trials Services. LabCorp clients include physicians, government agencies, 
managed care organizations, hospitals, clinical labs, and pharmaceutical companies.  
To learn more about our organization, visit our Web site at: www.labcorp.com.

Leading National Lab Provider

•	 Fastest-growing national lab

•	 $55 billion market

•	 Clinical, anatomic and genomic testing

•	 Serving clients in all 50 states and Canada

•	 Foremost worldwide clinical trials testing business

The Important Role Laboratory Testing Plays  
in the Health Care Continuum:
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Corporate Headquarters
358 South Main Street
Burlington, NC 27215
336-584-5171

Information Sources
Information about LabCorp is available from  
the following Company sources:

Investor Relations Contact
	 Stephen Anderson
	 Vice President, Investor Relations
	 336-436-5274
Center for Molecular Biology and Pathology
	 800-533-0567
Center for Occupational Testing
	 800-833-3984
Center for Esoteric Testing
	 800-334-5161 
Paternity/Identity  

800-742-3944
�LabCorp Drug Development Laboratory 

Services  
888-244-4102

Web Site
	 www.labcorp.com

Transfer Agent
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
Shareholder Services 
6201 Fifteenth Avenue
Brooklyn, NY 11219
800-937-5449
www.amstock.com

Independent Registered  
Public Accounting Firm
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
800 Green Valley Road, Suite 500
Greensboro, NC 27408

Annual Meeting
The annual meeting of shareholders will be  
held at 9.00 a.m. EDT on May 1, 2012 at  
The Paramount Theater, 128 East Front Street, 
Burlington, NC 27215.

Form 10-K
Copies of Form 10-K as filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission are available 
without cost to shareholders by writing to:

Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings
Investor Relations Department
358 South Main Street
Burlington, NC 27215

Safe Harbor
Forward-looking statements in this annual report 
are subject to change based on various important 
factors, including without limitation, competitive 
actions in the marketplace and adverse actions 
of governmental and other third-party payers. 
Actual results could differ materially from those 
suggested by these forward-looking statements. 
Further information on potential factors which 
could affect the Company’s financial results is 
included in the Company’s Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2011 and subsequent filings.

Common Stock
The Common Stock trades on the New York 
Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol 
“LH”. The following table sets forth for the 
calendar periods indicated the high and low 
sales prices for the Common Stock reported 
on the NYSE Composite Tape.

	 2011	 2010
	 High	 Low	 High	 Low

1Q	 92.98	 86.19	 77.09	 69.49
2Q	 100.94	 92.09	 83.00	 73.12
3Q	 99.76	 76.91	 78.94	 71.58
4Q	 88.15	 74.57	 89.48	 75.75

Laboratory Corporation of America

Shareholder and Company Information

Corporate Governance, Code of Business Conduct and Ethics – The Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines, the Charters of its Audit Committee, 
Compensation Committee, Quality and Compliance Committee, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee as well as the Company’s Code 
of Business Conduct and Ethics are available on the Company’s Web Site at www.labcorp.com. You can also obtain a hard copy of these documents, 
without charge, upon written request to Stephen Anderson, Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings, 358 South Main Street, Burlington, NC 27215.
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LabCorp delivered another strong performance in 2011, made 

possible by disciplined execution of our five-pillar strategy to 

grow the business and increase shareholder value. These five 

strategic pillars are:

•  �Deploy capital first to acquisitions that enhance our footprint 

and test menu, then to repurchase shares,

•  �Enhance our IT capabilities to improve the physician and 

patient experience,

•  �Continue to improve efficiency to remain the most efficient 

and highest-value provider of laboratory services,

•  �Continue scientific innovation to offer new tests at reasonable 

and appropriate pricing, and

•  �Participate in the development of alternative delivery models 

to improve patient outcomes and reduce the cost of care.

Despite a macroeconomic environment that remained challenging, 

we achieved our operational and financial goals across a broad range 

of measures. Each of our five pillars contributed to our success.

Results In A Nutshell

We generated solid increases in test volumes, revenues and 

earnings in 2011, achieving growth both organically and through 

strategic acquisitions. In 2011, LabCorp increased revenue  

10.8 percent, to $5.5 billion, and Adjusted Earnings Per Share 

Excluding Amortization by 6.5 percent, to $6.37. These results 

are especially noteworthy in a market environment in which total 

net U.S. jobs and managed care enrollment, two key metrics 

for our industry, remained stagnant. Our stock price reached 

$100 per share before concerns about the U.S. deficit and the 

European financial system dampened the market in the last five 

months of the year. 

We are proud of these accomplishments. This performance 

extended a strong growth record that has been sustained 

through several years of economic distress. In fact, for the 

period 2001 through 2011, LabCorp’s compound annual 

growth rates for Revenue, Adjusted Earnings Per Share 

Excluding Amortization and Free Cash Flow Per Share are 9.7, 

15.5 and 16.8 percent, respectively1.

We continue to fulfill our core mission – to offer the highest- 

quality laboratory testing and most compelling value to our 

customers – through successful execution of this well defined, 

five-pillar strategy. Let me review our 2011 progress on each 

pillar of our strategy.

At LabCorp we fulfill the commitments 

we make to physicians, patients and 

shareholders. In 2011, even as the 

country faced challenging economic 

times, LabCorp achieved strong 

financial and operational results  

as we turned our plans into action  

and executed our strategic objectives.

To Our    
Shareholders

Dave King  
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

1  �Adjusted Earnings Per Share Excluding Amortization is calculated by excluding the 
effects of the impact of restructuring and other special charges, loss on divestiture 
of assets and amortization expense from GAAP diluted earnings per share. Free cash 
flow represents cash flows from operations less capital expenditures. Free Cash 
Flow Per Share represents free cash flow divided by weighted average diluted shares 
outstanding. For a reconciliation of non-GAAP financial measures, please refer to slides 
9-11 of the Company’s 8K filed on February 10th, 2012.
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Deploy capital first to acquisitions that 
enhance our footprint and test menu, 
then to repurchase shares

No acquisition in our history has been more important than 

Genzyme Genetics2, which significantly expanded our leadership 

in esoteric testing and personalized medicine. The transaction, 

closed in December 2010, enabled us to reach our goal of deriving 

40 percent of revenue from esoteric testing — a goal that we have 

since elevated to 45 percent within the next three to five years. 

The acquisition of Genzyme Genetics created the premier genetics 

and oncology business in our industry. Our complementary 

services introduce significant customer benefits in areas such 

as prenatal genetic tests, which are performed during pregnancy 

to screen for birth defects. With our businesses combined, 

our customers have broad access to novel testing technologies 

such as the SMA molecular genetics assay and the entire Reveal® 

family of SNP Microarrays. As market demand for prenatal 

genetics increases, LabCorp will be well positioned to provide 

the broadest range of services.

In oncology, LabCorp’s broad molecular oncology test menu 

and specialized sales force complement the strong pathology 

expertise provided by Genzyme Genetics. In addition, LabCorp’s 

extensive test menu allowed us to internalize approximately  

50 tests that Genzyme Genetics previously referred to other labs. 

Integration That Produces Results

I am very pleased with our progress in integrating these businesses. 

As with every acquisition, the first objective is to retain revenue 

and the customer relationships that underpin that revenue. Our 

employees have worked to combine the businesses without 

disruption to our customer base, and the limited customer attrition 

we have experienced to date is evidence of their success. We are 

extremely appreciative of the skill and dedication of personnel 

from both companies, who have worked exceptionally well 

together to form a single team dedicated to patient care. 

In addition to focusing on customer service and revenue retention, 

we have collectively worked to reduce expenses and improve 

efficiencies for the Genzyme Genetics business. As we have 

stated, we expect the transaction to be neutral to slightly 

accretive to our 2012 earnings, and will reach corporate margin 

during 2013. 

We also made good progress on the integration of two other 

sizeable acquisitions, Westcliff Medical Laboratories and DCL 

Medical Laboratories. These transactions bolstered our 

presence in Southern California and Indianapolis, where we 

historically have been underrepresented. Further, in line with our 

strategic model, we executed a number of smaller acquisitions 

to enhance our test menu and our geographic footprint.

In December of 2011, we closed our acquisition of Orchid Cellmark, 

an international provider of DNA testing services primarily for 

forensic and family relationship applications. This acquisition 

strengthens LabCorp’s capabilities in forensics and identity 

testing and establishes our presence in the United Kingdom.

In 2011, we extended our record of deploying cash to return 

value to shareholders through share repurchase. For the year, 

we acquired 7.4 million LabCorp shares for $644 million. This 

brings our total repurchases since 2004 to more than $3.9 billion, 

at an average price of approximately $65.

2  �We now provide reproductive genetic testing services under the name Integrated Genetics, 
and oncology genetic testing services under the name Integrated Oncology.

Pillar One
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Pillar Two Pillar Three

Our automation initiatives, improvements to our logistics network, and enhancements to our 

supply chain operations have increased our per-employee throughput in our core laboratories 

by 40 percent since 2007. 

Enhance our IT capabilities to improve 
the physician and patient experience 

In 2011, we expanded the capabilities of LabCorp Beacon®,  

a comprehensive solution that delivers great value to physicians 

and patients. LabCorp Beacon helps to manage the test ordering 

and result delivery processes efficiently, intuitively and in a variety 

of easy-to-use formats. Last year, we deployed LabCorp Beacon 

to more than 8,500 sites and 41,000 customers, and we have 

received accolades from users for its flexibility and broad feature set.

For physicians, LabCorp Beacon centralizes lab connectivity and 

provides clear, concise reports and message alerts delivered in 

a variety of formats, including mobile platforms like the iPhone®, 

Android™ and iPad®. With streamlined order entry, intuitive visual 

cues to support timely physician decision making, and a host of 

time saving features, LabCorp Beacon is a significant asset that 

fortifies our relationships with thousands of physicians.

For patients, LabCorp Beacon makes it easier to interact with 

medical professionals. In 2011, we completed development of 

the LabCorp Beacon patient portal — a secure and easy-to-use 

online solution that enables patients to receive and share lab results, 

make appointments, pay bills, set up alerts and notifications, 

and manage health information for the entire family. 

 

Continue to improve efficiency to 
remain the most efficient and highest- 
value provider of laboratory services 

Our emphasis on continually improving productivity extends 

throughout all phases of our operations — from specimen 

collection, to processing and testing, to result reporting and to 

billing. LabCorp TOUCHSM accessioning provides leading-edge 

automation at our patient service center (PSC) locations. LabCorp 

TOUCH, including AccuDrawSM, automates key aspects of specimen 

collection, improving accuracy and precision. It allows us to 

deploy our personnel more productively, and it is now installed 

in more than 1,100 sites, representing approximately 75 percent 

of our PSC volume. 

Last year, we continued to reap the benefits of our Sysmex 

hematology automation. Our automation initiatives, improvements 

to our logistics network, and enhancements to our supply chain 

operations have increased our per-employee throughput in our 

core laboratories by 40 percent since 2007. We also upgraded 

our call center operations, improving call response time while 

reducing the number of facilities by approximately two-thirds. 

Even as we achieve new efficiencies, LabCorp’s service metrics, 

customer satisfaction ratings, and turnaround times are at 

historically high levels.

The expansion of the Powell Center for Esoteric Testing in 

Burlington, North Carolina leverages LEAN principles to conduct 

testing more efficiently and consolidate satellite locations. 

LEAN strategies have also proven effective in creating process 

improvements in our billing and collection operations. DSO at 

year-end stood at 46 days, unchanged year over year and 

sequentially, while bad debt continued its downward trajectory 

to 4.6 percent, an improvement of 20 basis points over last year.
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Pillar FivePillar Four Pillar Five

Continue scientific innovation to  
offer new tests at reasonable and  
appropriate pricing 

Innovative tests continue to be an important growth driver for 

LabCorp. In 2011, we introduced a total of 104 new assays  

as we collaborated with leading companies and academic 

institutions to provide physicians and patients with the most 

scientifically advanced testing in the industry. 

In personalized medicine, we added to our industry-leading suite 

of companion diagnostic testing by being the first national lab to 

introduce assays that can help physicians appropriately prescribe 

the drugs Zelboraf™ and XALKORI® in the treatment of certain 

types of cancer. The FDA recently approved Zelboraf for use with 

patients with metastatic melanoma that carry the BRAF V600E 

gene mutation. The companion diagnostic test we provide is 

essential for identifying patients who have this mutation and 

may benefit from this therapy. Also in 2011, XALKORI received 

FDA approval for use in a subset of non-small cell lung cancer 

patients classified as ALK-positive. LabCorp’s clinically validated 

companion diagnostic identifies these ALK-positive patients that 

should benefit from XALKORI. 

We also launched a series of hepatitis C (HCV) drug resistance 

assays developed to support the clinical evaluation of anti-viral 

agents and their effective use in the management of HCV 

infection. These tests add to LabCorp’s industry-leading suite 

of HCV diagnostics, all designed to help physicians provide 

optimal patient care.

In women’s health, we simplified specimen collection for physicians 

by offering a single-swab device that tests for a variety of the 

most common sexually transmitted disease organisms. Our 

single-swab device provides the comprehensive actionable 

information physicians need to deliver the best and most 

appropriate care to their patients.

Participate in the development of 
alternative delivery models to improve 
patient outcomes and reduce the cost 
of care 

With new health policy mandates and an urgent need to control 

costs, we believe the health care system will continue to move 

away from traditional fee-for-service payment models. As the 

most efficient, highest-value provider of laboratory services, 

LabCorp is ideally positioned to prosper in a market environment 

increasingly focused on the efficient delivery of quality services.

Last year, we were pleased to extend our contract with 

UnitedHealthcare through the end of 2018. For five years, our 

partnership has delivered high-quality laboratory services to 

UnitedHealthcare’s customers while lowering their laboratory spend. 

Over the next seven years, LabCorp will remain UnitedHealthcare’s 

sole national laboratory, and both organizations will continue to 

work to improve the management of laboratory networks and 

services to deliver high-quality care at reasonable cost. 

Although I cannot overemphasize the importance of a sound 

strategic foundation, a strategy is nothing unless it is well-

executed. The credit for our successes, once again and still, 

belongs to the 31,000 LabCorp employees who deliver the 

highest-quality care to our patients and physicians 7 days a 

week, 365 days a year. I am deeply grateful to our talented 

team, and we are all grateful to you for your continuing support. 

Very truly yours,

Dave King

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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The selected financial data presented below under the captions “Statement of Operations Data” and “Balance Sheet Data” as 
of and for the five-year period ended December 31, 2011 are derived from consolidated financial statements of the Company, 
which have been audited by an independent registered public accounting firm. This data should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes, the Company’s consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto, and “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” all included elsewhere herein.

					     Year Ended December 31,

(In millions, except per share amounts)	 2011(a) (b)	 2010(c)	 2009(d)	 2008(e) 	 2007(f)

Statement of Operations Data:

Net sales	 $	5,542.3	 $	5,003.9	 $	4,694.7	 $	4,505.2	 $	4,068.2
Gross profit		 2,274.7		 2,097.8		 1,970.9		 1,873.8		 1,691.2
Operating income		  948.4		  978.8		  935.9		  842.9		  777.0
Net earnings attributable to Laboratory	  		   		   		   		   
	 Corporation of America Holdings		  519.7		  558.2		  543.3		  464.5		  476.8

Basic earnings per common share	 $	 5.20	 $	 5.42	 $	 5.06	 $	 4.23	 $	 4.08
Diluted earnings per common share	 $	 5.11	 $	 5.29	 $	 4.98	 $	 4.16	 $	 3.93

Basic weighted average common	  		   		   		   		   
	 shares outstanding		  100.0		  103.0		  107.4		  109.7		  116.8
Diluted weighted average common	  		   		   		   		   
	 shares outstanding		  101.8		  105.4		  109.1		  111.8		  121.3

Balance Sheet Data:	  		   		   		   		   
Cash and cash equivalents, and	  		   		   		   		   
	 short-term investments	 $	 159.3	 $	 230.7	 $	 148.5	 $	 219.7	 $	 166.3
Goodwill and intangible assets, net		 4,302.5		 4,275.4		 3,239.3		 2,994.8		 2,252.9
Total assets		 6,171.0		 6,187.8		 4,837.8		 4,669.5		 4,368.2
Long-term obligations(g)		 2,221.0		 2,188.4		 1,394.4		 1,721.3		 1,667.0
Total shareholders’ equity		 2,503.5		 2,466.3		 2,106.1		 1,688.3		 1,725.3

(a)	� During 2011, the Company recorded net restructuring charges of $44.6. Of this amount, $27.4 related to severance and other personnel costs, 
and $22.0 primarily related to facility-related costs associated with the ongoing integration of certain acquisitions including Genzyme Genetics  
and Westcliff Medical Laboratories, Inc. (“Westcliff”). These charges were offset by restructuring credits of $4.8 resulting from the reversal of 
unused severance and facility closure liabilities. In addition, the Company recorded fixed assets impairment charges of $18.9 primarily related to 
equipment, computer systems and leasehold improvements in closed facilities. The Company also recorded special charges of $14.8 related to 
the write-off of certain assets and liabilities related to an investment made in prior years, along with a $2.6 write-off of an uncollectible receivable 
from a past installment sale of one of the Company’s lab operations.

(b)	 �Following the closing of its acquisition of Orchid Cellmark Inc. (“Orchid”) in mid-December 2011, the Company recorded a net $2.8 loss on its 
divestiture of certain assets of Orchid’s U.S. government paternity business, under the terms of the agreement reached with the U.S. Federal 
Trade Commission. This non-deductible loss on disposal was recorded in Other Income and Expense in the Company’s Consolidated Statements 
of Operations and decreased net earnings for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 by $2.8.

Laboratory Corporation of America

Selected Financial Data
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(c)	� During 2010, the Company recorded net restructuring charges of $5.8 primarily related to work force reductions and the closing of redundant  
and underutilized facilities. In addition, the Company recorded a special charge of $6.2 related to the write-off of development costs incurred on 
systems abandoned during the year. 

 	�	  The Company incurred approximately $25.7 in professional fees and expenses in connection with the acquisition of Genzyme Genetics and 
other acquisition activity, including significant costs associated with the Federal Trade Commission’s review of the Company’s purchase of  
specified net assets of Westcliff. These fees and expenses are included in selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended 
December 31, 2010.

 	�	  The Company also incurred $7.0 of financing commitment fees (included in interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2010) in  
connection with the acquisition of Genzyme Genetics.

(d)	�During 2009, the Company recorded net restructuring charges of $13.5 primarily related to the closing of redundant and underutilized facilities.
	�	  In October 2009, the Company received approval from its Board of Directors to freeze any additional service-based credits for any years of  

service after December 31, 2009 on the defined benefit retirement plan (the “Company Plan”) and the nonqualified supplemental retirement plan 
(the “PEP”). As a result of the changes to the Company Plan and PEP which were adopted in the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company recognized 
a net curtailment charge of $2.8 due to remeasurement of the PEP obligation at December 31, 2009 and the acceleration of unrecognized prior 
service for that plan. In addition, the Company recorded favorable adjustments of $21.5 to its tax provision relating to the resolution of certain 
state income tax issues under audit, as well as the realization of foreign tax credits.

 	�	  In connection with the Monogram Biosciences, Inc. acquisition, the Company incurred $2.7 in transaction fees and expenses in the third  
quarter of 2009.

(e)	  �During 2008, the Company recorded net restructuring charges of $32.4 primarily related to work force reductions and the closing of redundant 
and underutilized facilities. During the third quarter of 2008, the Company also recorded a special charge of $5.5 related to estimated uncollect-
ible amounts primarily owed by patients in the areas of the Gulf Coast severely impacted by hurricanes similar to losses incurred during the 2005 
hurricane season.

 	�	  In the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company recorded a $7.5 cumulative revenue adjustment relating to certain historic overpayments made  
by Medicare for claims submitted by a subsidiary of the Company. In addition, the Company recorded a $7.1 favorable adjustment to its fourth 
quarter tax provision relating to tax treaty changes adopted by the United States and Canada.

  	�	  During the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company recorded charges of approximately $3.7, which related to the acceleration of the recognition of 
stock compensation and certain defined benefit plan obligations due to the announced retirement of the Company’s Executive Vice President of 
Corporate Affairs, effective December 31, 2008.

 	�	  In the second quarter of 2008, the Company recorded a $45.0 increase in its provision for doubtful accounts. The Company’s estimate of the 
allowance for doubtful accounts was increased due to the impact of the economy, higher patient deductibles and copayments, and recent  
acquisitions on the collectibility of accounts receivable balances.

(f) 	� During 2007, the Company recorded net restructuring charges of $50.6 related to reductions in work force and consolidation of redundant and  
underutilized facilities.

(g)	� Long-term obligations primarily include the Company’s zero-coupon convertible subordinated notes, 5½% senior notes due 2013, 55/8% senior 
notes due 2015, 3.125% senior notes due 2016, 4.625% senior notes due 2020, term loan, revolving credit facility and other long-term obligations. 
The accreted balance of the zero-coupon convertible subordinated notes was $135.5, $286.7, $292.2, $573.5 and $564.4 at December 31, 2011, 
2010, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The balance of the 5½% senior notes, including principal and unamortized portion of a deferred gain on 
an interest rate swap agreement, was $350.0, $350.9, $351.3, $351.7 and $352.2 at December 31, 2011, 2010, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 
The principal balance of the 55/8% senior notes was $250.0 at December 31, 2011, 2010, 2009, 2008 and 2007. The principal balance of the 
3.125% senior notes was $325.0 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, and $0 for all other years presented. The principal balance of the 4.625% 
senior notes was $600.0 at December 31, 2011 and 2010 and $0 for all other years presented. The term loan was $0.0, $375.0, $425.0, 
$475.0 and $500.0 at December 31, 2011, 2010, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The revolving credit facility was $560.0, $75.0, $70.8 at 
December 31, 2011, 2009 and 2008, respectively, and $0 for all other years presented. The remainder of other long-term obligations consisted 
primarily of mortgages payable with balances of $0.0, $0.8, $0.9, $0.3 and $0.4 at December 31, 2011, 2010, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 
Long-term obligations exclude amounts due to affiliates.

Laboratory Corporation of America

Selected Financial Data (continued)
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Laboratory Corporation of America

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (in millions)

General
During 2011, the Company continued to strengthen its financial 
performance through pricing discipline, continued growth of 
its esoteric testing, outcome improvement and companion 
diagnostics offerings, and expense control.
	 The Company’s acquisition of Genzyme Genetics in 
December 2010 has helped to expand the Company’s  
capabilities in reproductive, genetic, hematology-oncology  
and clinical trials central laboratory testing, enhance the 
Company’s esoteric testing capabilities and advance the 
Company’s personalized medicine strategy. The Genzyme 
Genetics acquisition contributed approximately 6.8% to the 
Company’s 10.8% growth in net sales experienced in 2011.
	 In July 2011, the Company reached a settlement in the  
previously disclosed lawsuit, California ex rel. Hunter 
Laboratories, LLC et al. v. Quest Diagnostics Incorporated,  
et al. to avoid the uncertainty and costs associated with  
prolonged litigation. Pursuant to the executed settlement 
agreement, the Company paid $49.5 in the third quarter of 
2011 to resolve all claims brought against the Company in the 
lawsuit without any admission of liability. In connection with  
the settlement, the Company recorded litigation settlement 
expense of $34.5 ($49.5 settlement, net of previously recorded 
reserves of $15.0) in the second quarter of 2011. This expense 
was recorded in Selling, General and Administrative expense  
in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.
	 In September 2011, the Company announced that it had 
extended the term of its agreement with UnitedHealthcare 
Insurance Company, an affiliate of UnitedHealth Group 
Incorporated, for an additional two years. The agreement, 
which was effective January 1, 2007, will now continue 
through the end of 2018.
	 Following the closing of its acquisition of Orchid Cellmark 
Inc. (“Orchid”) in mid-December, the Company recorded a  
net $2.8 loss on its divestiture of certain assets of Orchid’s 
U.S. government paternity business, under the terms of the 
agreement reached with the U.S. Federal Trade Commission. 
This non-deductible loss on disposal was recorded in Other 
Income and Expense in the Company’s Consolidated 
Statements of Operations.
	 In November 2011, the Company acquired an additional 
12.6% ownership interest from the holders of the non- 
controlling interest in the Ontario joint venture in accordance 
with the terms of the joint venture’s partnership agreement, 
bringing the Company’s ownership interest to 98.2%.

	 On December 21, 2011, the Company entered into a new 
$1,000.0 revolving credit facility. As part of this new financing, 
the Company repaid all of the outstanding balances of 
$318.8 on its term loan and $235.0 on its previous revolving 
credit facility. In conjunction with the repayment and cancellation  
of its old credit agreement, the Company recorded approxi-
mately $1.0 of unamortized debt costs as interest expense  
in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations  
during the fourth quarter of 2011.

Seasonality
The majority of the Company’s testing volume is dependent  
on patient visits to physician offices and other providers of 
health care. Volume of testing generally declines during the 
year-end holiday periods and other major holidays. In addition, 
volume declines due to inclement weather may reduce net 
revenues and cash flows. Therefore, comparison of the results 
of successive quarters may not accurately reflect trends or 
results for the full year.

Results of Operations 
(amounts in millions except Revenue Per Requisition info)

Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009
Operating results for the year ended December 31, 2011 were 
impacted by a challenging economic climate, offset by growth 
resulting from the Company’s 2010 acquisitions of Genzyme 
Genetics and Westcliff, along with organic growth within its 
core operations. Inclement weather reduced volumes by an 
estimated 0.1% and 0.3%, and revenue by an estimated 
$26.0 and $23.0 during the years ended December 31, 2011 
and 2010, respectively.

Net Sales

	 Years Ended December 31,	 % Change

					     2011	 2010	 2009	 2011	 2010
Net sales
	 Routine Testing	 $	3,143.9	 $	2,995.4	 $	2,845.6		  5.0%		 5.3%
	 Genomic and  
		  Esoteric Testing		  2,089.0		  1,728.5		  1,601.6		  20.9%		 7.9%
	 Ontario, Canada		  309.4		  280.0		  247.5		  10.5%		 13.1%

	 Total		  $	5,542.3	 $	5,003.9	 $	4,694.7		  10.8%		 6.6%

120097_L01_FIN.indd   8 3/8/12   8:52 AM



8 9

Laboratory Corporation of America

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (in millions)

	 Years Ended December 31,	 % Change

					     2011	 2010	 2009	 2011	 2010
Volume
	 Routine Testing		  85.2		  83.3		  84.6		  2.3%		 (1.6)%
	 Genomic and  
		  Esoteric Testing		  29.3		  27.2		  25.8		  7.8%		 5.7%
	 Ontario, Canada		  9.3		  9.1		  9.1		  1.8%		 0.4%

	 Total			   123.8		  119.6		  119.5		  3.5%		 0.1%

	 Years Ended December 31,	 % Change

					     2011	 2010	 2009	 2011	 2010
Revenue Per Requisition
	 Routine Testing	 $	36.91	 $	35.96	 $	33.62		  2.6%		 7.0%
	 Genomic and  
		  Esoteric Testing	 $	71.19	 $	63.48	 $	62.14		  12.1%		 2.2%
	 Ontario, Canada	 $	33.29	 $	30.68	 $	27.24		  8.5%		 12.6%

	 Total		  $	44.76	 $	41.82	 $	39.29		  7.0%		 6.4%

	T he increase in net sales for the three years ended  
December 31, 2011 has been driven primarily by acquisitions 
made in all years (most significantly in the second half of 2010), 
along with growth in the Company’s managed care business, 
increased revenue from third parties (Medicare and Medicaid), 
the Company’s continued shift in test mix to higher-priced 
genomic and esoteric tests, and growth in revenue per requisi-
tion in the Company’s routine testing. Managed care and third 
party revenue as a percentage of net sales increased from 61.8% 
in 2009 to 62.8% in 2011. Genomic and esoteric testing volume 
as a percentage of total volume increased from 21.6% in 2009 to 
23.7% in 2011. The continuing impact of government contracts 
terminated during 2009 reduced routine testing volume by 0.1% 
and 1.8% for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, 
respectively. Revenue per requisition growth was impacted in 
2010 by lost contracts and the recognition of deferred revenue 
resulting from an amendment to a customer contract, which 
together improved revenue per requisition by approximately 1.6%. 
In 2011, the Company’s 2010 acquisition of Genzyme Genetics 
contributed 6.8% to the overall 10.8% growth in revenue and 
0.9% to the overall 3.5% growth in volume. Net sales of the 
Ontario joint venture were $309.4, $280.0 and $247.5 for the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively, an increase of $29.4 or 10.5%, and $32.5 or 
13.1% in 2011 and 2010, respectively. Net sales for the Ontario 
joint venture were impacted by a weaker U.S. dollar in 2011 and 
a stronger U.S. dollar in 2010 and 2009. In Canadian dollars, 
net sales of the Ontario joint venture for the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 were CN$306.0, 
CN$288.5 and CN$281.3, respectively. 

Cost of Sales

	 Years Ended December 31,	 % Change

					     2011	 2010	 2009	 2011	 2010
Cost of sales	 $	3,267.6	 $	2,906.1	 $	2,723.8		  12.4%		 6.7%xt <feff0009>>>
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Amortization of Intangibles and Other Assets

	 Years Ended December 31,	 % Change

					     2011	 2010	 2009	 2011	 2010
Amortization of intangibles  
	 and other assets		 $85.8		 $72.7		 $62.6		  18.0%		 16.1%

	T he increase in amortization of intangibles and other assets 
over the three year period ended December 31, 2011 primarily 
reflects the impact of acquisitions closed during all three years.

Restructuring and Other Special Charges

		  Years Ended December 31,

							       2011	 2010	 2009
Restructuring and other special charges		  $80.9			 $12.0		 $13.5

	 During 2011, the Company recorded net restructuring 
charges of $44.6. Of this amount, $27.4 related to severance 
and other personnel costs, and $22.0 primarily related to  
facility-related costs associated with the ongoing integration 
of certain acquisitions including Genzyme Genetics and 
Westcliff. These restructuring initiatives are expected to  
provide annualized cost savings of approximately $99.7. 
These charges were offset by restructuring credits of $4.8 
resulting from the reversal of unused severance and facility  
closure liabilities. In addition, the Company recorded fixed 
assets impairment charges of $18.9 primarily related to  
equipment, computer systems and leasehold improvements  
in closed facilities. The Company also recorded special charges 
of $14.8 related to the write-off of certain assets and liabilities 
related to an investment made in prior years, along with a $2.6 
write-off of an uncollectible receivable from a past installment 
sale of one of the Company’s lab operations.
	 During 2010, the Company recorded net restructuring 
charges of $5.8 primarily related to work force reductions  
and the closing of redundant and underutilized facilities. Of  
this amount, $8.0 related to severance and other employee 
costs in connection with certain work force reductions and 
$3.1 related to contractual obligations associated with leased 
facilities and other facility related costs. These restructuring  
initiatives are expected to provide annualized cost savings of 
approximately $34.7. The Company also reduced its prior 
restructuring accruals by $5.3, comprised of $4.7 of previously 
recorded facility costs and $0.6 of employee severance  
benefits as a result of changes in cost estimates on the 
restructuring initiatives. In addition, the Company recorded a 

special charge of $6.2 related to the write-off of development 
costs incurred on systems abandoned during the year.
	 During 2009, the Company recorded net restructuring 
charges of $13.5 primarily related to the closing of redundant 
and underutilized facilities. Of this amount, $10.5 related to 
severance and other employee costs for employees primarily 
in the affected facilities, and $12.5 related to contractual  
obligations associated with leased facilities and other facility 
related costs. The Company also reduced its prior restructur-
ing accruals by $9.5, comprised of $7.3 of previously recorded 
facility costs and $2.2 of employee severance benefits as a 
result of incurring less cost than planned on those restructur-
ing initiatives primarily resulting from favorable settlements on 
lease buyouts and severance payments that were not required 
to achieve the planned reduction in work force.

Interest Expense

	 Years Ended December 31,	 % Change

					     2011	 2010	 2009	 2011	 2010
Interest expense		 $87.5	 	$70.0		 $62.9		  25.0%		 11.3%

	T he increase in interest expense for 2011 as compared to 
2010 is primarily due to interest incurred during 2011 in  
connection with the senior notes offering of $925.0 in 
November 2010, which was outstanding for all of 2011. 
Certain interest related costs decreased due to lower average 
borrowings outstanding during 2011 as compared with 2010 
primarily due to principal payments on the prior Term Loan 
Facility and the settlement of approximately $155.1 of the 
zero-coupon subordinated notes during the year. In addition, 
the effective interest rate on the Term Loan Facility was lower 
in 2011 as compared with 2010 due to the expiration of the 
interest rate swap on March 31, 2011. In conjunction with  
the repayment and cancellation of its old credit agreement  
in December 2011, the Company recorded approximately 
$1.0 of unamortized debt costs as interest expense in the 
Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. The 
Company recorded $7.0 of bridge financing fees in the 2010 
period related to the signing of the definitive agreement to 
acquire Genzyme Genetics in September 2010.

Equity Method Income

	 Years Ended December 31,	 % Change

					     2011	 2010	 2009	 2011	 2010
Equity method income		  $9.5	 	$10.6		 $13.8		   (10.4)%	 (23.2)%
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	 Equity method income represents the Company’s ownership 
share in joint venture partnerships along with stock investments 
in other companies in the clinical diagnostic industry. The 
decrease in income since 2009 is primarily due to the Company’s 
share of losses in the Cincinnati, Ohio joint venture and the 
Canada, China and Western Europe equity method investment.

Income Tax Expense

		  Years Ended December 31,

							       2011	 2010	 2009
Income tax expense					     $	333.0	 $	344.0	 $	329.0
Income tax expense as a % of income before tax		  38.4%		  37.6%		  37.2%

	 The effective tax rate for 2011 was negatively impacted by 
non-deductible losses incurred in certain subsidiaries of the 
Company. The effective tax rate for 2010 was favorably 
impacted by a benefit relating to the net decrease in unrecog-
nized income tax benefits. The effective tax rate for 2009 was 
favorably impacted by adjustments of $21.5 relating to the  
resolution of certain state tax issues under audit, as well as  
the realization of foreign tax credits.

Liquidity, Capital Resources and Financial Position
The Company’s strong cash-generating capability and  
financial condition typically have provided ready access to 
capital markets. The Company’s principal source of liquidity  
is operating cash flow, supplemented by proceeds from debt 
offerings. This cash-generating capability is one of the 
Company’s fundamental strengths and provides substantial 
financial flexibility in meeting operating, investing and financing 
needs. The Company’s senior unsecured revolving credit  
facility is further discussed in “Note 11 to Consolidated 
Financial Statements.”

Operating Activities
In 2011, the Company’s operations provided $855.6 of cash, 
reflecting the Company’s solid business results. The decrease 
in the Company’s cash flow from operations primarily resulted 
from a litigation settlement of $49.5 which was paid in 
September 2011. The Company continued to focus on efforts 
to increase cash collections from all payers and to generate  
on-going improvements to the claim submission processes.
	 The Company made contributions to the defined benefit 
retirement plan (“Company Plan”) of $0.0, $0.0 and $54.8 in 
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. In October 2009, the 

Company received approval from its Board of Directors to 
freeze any additional service-based credits for any years of  
service after December 31, 2009 on the Company Plan and  
the PEP. Both plans have been closed to new participants. 
Employees participating in the Company Plan and the PEP  
no longer earn service-based credits, but continue to earn 
interest credits. In addition, effective January 1, 2010, all 
employees eligible for the defined contribution retirement  
plan (the “401K Plan”) receive a minimum 3% non-elective 
contribution (“NEC”) concurrent with each payroll period.  
The NEC replaces the Company match, which has been  
discontinued. Employees are not required to make a  
contribution to the 401K Plan to receive the NEC. The NEC  
is non-forfeitable and vests immediately. The 401K Plan also 
permits discretionary contributions by the Company of 1% to 
3% of pay for eligible employees based on years of service. 
Non-elective and discretionary contributions were comparable 
in 2011, compared to 2010, but were approximately $25.4 
higher in 2010 than the Company’s contributions to its 401K 
Plan in 2009.
	 Projected pension expense for the Company Plan and PEP 
is expected to increase from $8.6 in 2011 to $12.2 in 2012. 
The Company plans to make contributions of $14.6 to the 
Company Plan during 2012. See “Note 16 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements” for a further discussion of the Company’s 
pension and postretirement plans.

Investing Activities
Capital expenditures were $145.7, $126.1 and $114.7 for 
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The Company expects 
capital expenditures of approximately $155.0 in 2012. The 
Company will continue to make important investments in its 
business, including information technology. Such expenditures 
are expected to be funded by cash flow from operations, as 
well as borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit  
facilities as needed.
	 The Company remains committed to growing its business 
through strategic acquisitions and licensing agreements. The 
Company has invested a total of $1,531.2 over the past three 
years in strategic business acquisitions. These acquisitions 
have helped strengthen the Company’s geographic presence 
along with expanding capabilities in the specialty testing  
operations. The Company believes the acquisition market 
remains attractive with a number of opportunities to strengthen  
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its scientific capabilities, grow esoteric testing capabilities and 
increase presence in key geographic areas.
	 The Company has invested a total of $50.8 over the past 
three years in licensing new testing technologies (including 
approximately $49.4 estimated fair market value of technol-
ogy acquired in certain acquisitions in 2010 and 2009) and 
had $66.2 net book value of capitalized patents, licenses  
and technology as of December 31, 2011. While the 
Company continues to believe its strategy of entering into 
licensing and technology distribution agreements with the 
developers of leading-edge technologies will provide future 
growth in revenues, there are certain risks associated with 
these investments. These risks include, but are not limited  
to, the failure of the licensed technology to gain broad  
acceptance in the marketplace and/or that insurance  
companies, managed care organizations, or Medicare and 
Medicaid will not approve reimbursement for these tests at  
a level commensurate with the costs of running the tests. 
Any or all of these circumstances could result in impairment  
in the value of the related capitalized licensing costs.

Financing Activities
On December 21, 2011, the Company entered into a Credit 
Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) providing for a five-year 
$1,000.0 senior unsecured revolving credit facility (the 
“Revolving Credit Facility”) with Bank of America, N.A., acting 
as Administrative Agent, Barclays Capital as Syndication 
Agent, and a group of financial institutions as lending parties. 
As part of the new Revolving Credit Facility, the Company 
repaid all of the outstanding balances of $318.8 on its existing 
term loan facility and $235.0 on its existing revolving credit 
facility. In conjunction with the repayment and cancellation  
of its old credit facility, the Company recorded approximately 
$1.0 of remaining unamortized debt costs as interest expense 
in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations 
for the year ended December 31, 2011. The balances out-
standing on the Company’s Revolving Credit Facility at 
December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 were $560.0 
and $0.0, respectively. The Revolving Credit Facility bears 
interest at varying rates based upon a base rate or LIBOR plus 
(in each case) a percentage based on the Company’s debt  
rating with Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s Ratings Services. 
	 The Revolving Credit Facility is available for general  
corporate purposes, including working capital, capital expen-
ditures, acquisitions, funding of share repurchases and other 

restricted payments permitted under the Credit Agreement. 
The Credit Agreement also contains limitations on aggregate 
subsidiary indebtedness and a debt covenant that requires 
that the Company maintain on the last day of any period for 
four consecutive fiscal quarters, in each case taken as one 
accounting period, a ratio of total debt to consolidated 
EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, and 
Amortization) of not more than 3.0 to 1.0. The Company was 
in compliance with all covenants in the Credit Agreement at 
December 31, 2011.
	 As of December 31, 2011, the effective interest rate on the 
Revolving Credit Facility was 1.26%.
	 The interest rate swap agreement to hedge variable interest 
rate risk on the Company’s variable interest rate term loan 
expired on March 31, 2011. On a quarterly basis under the 
swap, the Company paid a fixed rate of interest (2.92%) and 
received a variable rate of interest based on the three-month 
LIBOR rate on an amortizing notional amount of indebtedness 
equivalent to the term loan balance outstanding. The swap 
was designated as a cash flow hedge. Accordingly, the 
Company recognized the fair value of the swap in the  
condensed consolidated balance sheets and any changes in 
the fair value were recorded as adjustments to accumulated 
other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax. The fair value  
of the interest rate swap agreement was the estimated amount 
that the Company would have paid or received to terminate 
the swap agreement at the reporting date. The fair value of  
the swap was a liability of $2.4 at December 31, 2010 and 
was included in other liabilities in the respective condensed  
consolidated balance sheet.
	 On October 28, 2010, in conjunction with the acquisition of 
Genzyme Genetics, the Company entered into a $925.0 Bridge 
Term Loan Credit Agreement, among the Company, the lenders 
named therein and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent (the 
“Bridge Facility”). The Company replaced and terminated the 
Bridge Facility in November 2010 by making an offering in the 
debt capital markets. On November 19, 2010, the Company 
sold $925.0 in debt securities, consisting of $325.0 aggregate 
principal amount of 3.125% Senior Notes due May 15, 2016 and 
$600.0 aggregate principal amount of 4.625% Senior Notes due 
November 15, 2020. Beginning on May 15, 2011, interest on the 
Senior Notes due 2016 and 2020 is payable semi-annually on 
May 15 and November 15. On December 1, 2010, the acquisi-
tion of Genzyme Genetics was funded by the proceeds from the 
issuance of these Notes ($915.4) and with cash on hand.

120097_L01_FIN.indd   12 3/8/12   8:52 AM



12 13

Laboratory Corporation of America

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (in millions)

	 During 2011, the Company repurchased $643.9 of stock 
representing 7.4 shares. As of December 31, 2011, the 
Company had outstanding authorization from the Board of 
Directors to purchase $84.4 of Company common stock.  
On February 10, 2012, the Company announced the Board  
of Directors authorized the purchase of $500.0 of additional 
shares of the Company’s common stock.
	 During 2011, the Company settled notices to convert  
$190.6 aggregate principal amount at maturity of its zero-
coupon subordinated notes with a conversion value of $248.9. 
The total cash used for these settlements was $155.1 and 
the Company also issued 1.0 additional shares of common 
stock. As a result of these conversions, the Company also 
reversed approximately $36.2 of deferred tax liability to reflect 
the tax benefit realized upon issuance of the shares. 
	 On August 11, 2011, the Company notified holders of  
the zero-coupon subordinated notes that pursuant to the 
Indenture for the notes they have the right to require the 
Company to purchase in cash all or a portion of their zero- 
coupon subordinated notes on September 12, 2011 at 
$819.54 per note, plus any accrued contingent additional  
principal and any accrued contingent interest thereon. On 
September 12, 2011, the Company announced that none  
of the zero-coupon subordinated notes were tendered by 
holders for purchase by the Company.
	 On September 13, 2011, the Company announced that  
for the period of September 12, 2011 to March 11, 2012, the 

zero-coupon subordinated notes will accrue contingent cash 
interest at a rate of no less than 0.125% of the average market 
price of a zero-coupon subordinated note for the five trading 
days ended September 7, 2011, in addition to the continued 
accrual of the original issue discount.
	 On January 3, 2012, the Company announced that its  
zero-coupon subordinated notes may be converted into cash 
and common stock at the conversion rate of 13.4108 per 
$1,000 principal amount at maturity of the notes, subject to 
the terms of the zero-coupon subordinated notes and the 
Indenture, dated as of October 24, 2006 between the Company 
and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee and conversion 
agent. In order to exercise the option to convert all or a portion 
of the zero-coupon subordinated notes, holders are required 
to validly surrender their zero-coupon subordinated notes at 
any time during the calendar quarter beginning January 1, 
2012, through the close of business on the last business day 
of the calendar quarter, which is 5:00 p.m., New York City 
time, on Friday, March 30, 2012. If notices of conversion are 
received, the Company plans to settle the cash portion of the 
conversion obligation with cash on hand and/or borrowings 
under the revolving credit facility. 

Credit Ratings 
The Company’s debt ratings of Baa2 from Moody’s and BBB+ 
from Standard & Poor’s contribute to its ability to access 
capital markets.

Contractual Cash Obligations 

	 Payments Due by Period

							       2013-	 2015-	 2017 and
					     Total	 2012	 2014	 2016	
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company does not have transactions or relationships  
with “special purpose” entities, and the Company does not 
have any off balance sheet financing other than normal  
operating leases.

Other Commercial Commitments
As of December 31, 2011, the Company provided letters of 
credit aggregating approximately $37.4, primarily in connec-
tion with certain insurance programs. Letters of credit provided 
by the Company are secured by the Company’s Revolving 
Credit Facility and are renewed annually, around mid-year.
	 The partnership units of the holders of the noncontrolling 
interest in the Ontario, Canada (“Ontario”) joint venture were 
acquired by the Company on February 8, 2010 for $137.5.  
On February 17, 2010, the Company completed a transaction 
to sell the units acquired from the previous noncontrolling 
interest holder to a new Canadian partner for the same price. 
As a result of this transaction, the Company recorded a  
component of noncontrolling interest in other liabilities and  
a component in mezzanine equity. Upon the completion of  
these two transactions, the Company’s financial ownership 
percentage in the joint venture partnership remained 
unchanged at 85.6%. Concurrent with the sale to the new 
partner, the partnership agreement for the Ontario joint venture 
was amended and restated with substantially the same terms 
as the previous agreement. 
	 On October 14, 2011, the Company issued notice to a 
noncontrolling interest holder in the Ontario joint venture of its 
intent to purchase the holder’s partnership units in accordance 
with the terms of the joint venture’s partnership agreement. On 
November 28, 2011, this purchase was completed for a total 
purchase price of CN$151.7 as outlined in the partnership 
agreement (CN$147.8 plus certain adjustments relating to 
cash distribution hold backs made to finance recent business 
acquisitions and capital expenditures). The purchase of these 
additional partnership units brings the Company’s percentage 
interest owned to 98.2%.
	 The contractual value of the remaining noncontrolling  
interest put, in excess of the current noncontrolling interest of  
$3.6, totals $16.6 at December 31, 2011. At December 31, 
2011 and 2010, $20.2 and $20.6, respectively, have been 
classified as mezzanine equity in the Company’s condensed 
consolidated balance sheet.

	 At December 31, 2011, the Company was a guarantor on 
approximately $0.9 of equipment leases. These leases were 
entered into by a joint venture in which the Company owns a 50% 
interest and have a remaining term of approximately two years.
	 Based on current and projected levels of operations,  
coupled with availability under its Revolving Credit Facility,  
the Company believes it has sufficient liquidity to meet both  
its anticipated short-term and long-term cash needs; however, 
the Company continually reassesses its liquidity position in 
light of market conditions and other relevant factors.

New Accounting Pronouncements
In September 2011, the FASB issued authoritative guidance  
to amend and simplify the rules related to testing goodwill for 
impairment. The revised guidance allows an entity to make an 
initial qualitative evaluation, based on the entity’s events and 
circumstances, to determine whether it is more likely than not 
that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying 
amount. The results of this qualitative assessment determine 
whether it is necessary to perform the currently required  
two-step impairment test. The new guidance is effective for 
annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for  
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011, with early 
adoption permitted. Adoption of this guidance is not expected 
to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.
	 In July 2011, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on the 
presentation and disclosure of patient service revenue, provision 
for bad debts, and the allowance for doubtful accounts for  
certain health care entities. This literature was issued to  
provide greater transparency about a health care entity’s net 
patient service revenue and the related allowance for doubtful 
accounts. Specifically, this literature requires the provision for 
bad debts associated with patient service revenue to be sepa-
rately displayed on the face of the statement of operations as a 
component of net revenue for health care entities that provide 
services regardless of a patient’s ability to pay. The guidance 
also requires enhanced disclosures of significant changes in 
estimates in the provision for bad debts relating to patient  
services when an entity recognizes revenue regardless of a 
patient’s ability to pay. This guidance is effective for fiscal years 
and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2011, with 
early adoption permitted. The Company does not believe the 
adoption of the authoritative guidance in the first quarter of 2012 
will have an impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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	 In June 2011, the FASB issued authoritative guidance  
on the presentation of comprehensive income. Specifically,  
this literature allows an entity to present components of net  
earnings and other comprehensive income in one continuous 
statement, referred to as the statement of comprehensive 
income, or in two separate, but consecutive statements. The 
authoritative guidance eliminates the current option to report 
other comprehensive income and its components in the state-
ment of changes in shareholders’ equity. While the authoritative 
guidance changes the presentation of comprehensive income, 
there are no changes to the components that are recognized 
in net earnings or other comprehensive income under current 
accounting guidance. The guidance is effective for fiscal years 
and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2011. The 
Company does not believe the adoption of the authoritative 
guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2012 will have an impact 
on its consolidated financial position, results of operations or 
cash flows.
	 In May 2011, the FASB issued authoritative guidance to 
achieve common fair value measurement and disclosure 
requirements between U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles and International Financial Reporting Standards. 
This new literature amends current fair value measurement 
and disclosure guidance to include increased transparency 
around valuation inputs and investment categorization. The 
guidance is effective for fiscal years and interim periods  
beginning after December 15, 2011. The Company does not 
believe the adoption of the authoritative guidance in the first 
quarter of fiscal 2012 will have an impact on its consolidated 
financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with  
generally accepted accounting principles requires manage-
ment to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reported periods. While the Company 
believes these estimates are reasonable and consistent, they 
are by their very nature, estimates of amounts that will depend 
on future events. Accordingly, actual results could differ from 
these estimates. The Company’s Audit Committee periodically 
reviews the Company’s significant accounting policies. The 

Company’s critical accounting policies arise in conjunction 
with the following:

•	 �Revenue recognition and allowances for  
doubtful accounts;

•	 Pension expense;
•	 Accruals for self insurance reserves; and
•	 Income taxes

Revenue Recognition and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Revenue is recognized for services rendered when the testing 
process is complete and test results are reported to the order-
ing physician. The Company’s sales are generally billed to 
three types of payers – clients, patients and third parties such 
as managed care companies, Medicare and Medicaid. For  
clients, sales are recorded on a fee-for-service basis at the 
Company’s client list price, less any negotiated discount. 
Patient sales are recorded at the Company’s patient fee 
schedule, net of any discounts negotiated with physicians on 
behalf of their patients. The Company bills third-party payers  
in two ways – fee-for-service and capitated agreements.  
Fee-for-service third-party payers are billed at the Company’s 
patient fee schedule amount, and third-party revenue is 
recorded net of contractual discounts. These discounts are 
recorded at the transaction level at the time of sale based on  
a fee schedule that is maintained for each third-party payer. 
The majority of the Company’s third-party sales are recorded 
using an actual or contracted fee schedule at the time of sale. 
For the remaining third-party sales, estimated fee schedules 
are maintained for each payer. Adjustments to the estimated 
payment amounts are recorded at the time of final collection 
and settlement of each transaction as an adjustment to  
revenue. These adjustments are not material to the Company’s 
results of operations in any period presented. The Company 
periodically adjusts these estimated fee schedules based  
upon historical payment trends. Under capitated agreements 
with managed care companies, the Company recognizes  
revenue based on a negotiated monthly contractual rate for 
each member of the managed care plan regardless of the 
number or cost of services performed.
	 The Company has a formal process to estimate and review 
the collectibility of its receivables based on the period of time 
they have been outstanding. Bad debt expense is recorded 
within selling, general and administrative expenses as a  
percentage of sales considered necessary to maintain the 
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allowance for doubtful accounts at an appropriate level. The 
Company’s process for determining the appropriate level of  
the allowance for doubtful accounts involves judgment, and 
considers such factors as the age of the underlying receivables, 
historical and projected collection experience, and other external 
factors that could affect the collectibility of its receivables. 
Accounts are written off against the allowance for doubtful 
accounts based on the Company’s write-off policy (e.g.,  
when they are deemed to be uncollectible). In the determina-
tion of the appropriate level of the allowance, accounts are 
progressively reserved based on the historical timing of cash 
collections relative to their respective aging categories within 
the Company’s receivables. These collection and reserve 
processes, along with the close monitoring of the billing  
process, help reduce the risks of material revisions to reserve 
estimates resulting from adverse changes in collection or  
reimbursement experience. The following table presents the 
percentage of the Company’s net accounts receivable out-
standing by aging category at December 31, 2011 and 2010:

Days Outstanding				    2011	 2010
	 0	 –	 30								        51.2%		 51.1%
	 31	 – 	 60								        17.2%		 17.5%
	 61 	– 	 90								        10.2%		 9.7%
	 91 	– 	120								        7.7%		 7.2%
	121 	– 	150								        4.2%		 4.0%
	151 	– 	180								        3.1%		 3.7%
	181 	– 	270								        5.3%		 5.8%
	271	 – 	360								        0.8%		 0.9%
	    Over   360								        0.2%		 0.1%

	 The above table excludes the percentage of net accounts 
receivable outstanding by aging category for the Ontario, 
Canada joint venture, Clearstone and Orchid. The Company 
believes that including the agings for these foreign operations 
would not be representative of the majority of the accounts 
receivable by aging category for the Company.

Pension Expense
In October 2009, the Company received approval from its 
Board of Directors to freeze any additional service-based  
credits for any years of service after December 31, 2009 on 
the Company Plan and the PEP. Both plans have been closed 
to new participants. Employees participating in the Company 
Plan and the PEP no longer earn service-based credits, but 
continue to earn interest credits. In addition, effective January 1, 
2010, all employees eligible for the defined contribution 

retirement plan (the “401K Plan”) receive a minimum 3% 
non-elective contribution (“NEC”) concurrent with each 
payroll period. The 401K Plan also permits discretionary 
contributions by the Company of 1% to 3% of pay for eligible 
employees based on service.
	 The Company Plan covers substantially all employees hired 
prior to December 31, 2009. The benefits to be paid under the 
Company Plan are based on years of credited service through 
December 31, 2009, interest credits and average compensa-
tion. The Company also has the PEP which covers its senior 
management group. Prior to 2010, the PEP provided for the 
payment of the difference, if any, between the amount of any 
maximum limitation on annual benefit payments under the 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 and the 
annual benefit that would be payable under the Company Plan 
but for such limitation.
	 The Company’s net pension cost is developed from actuarial 
valuations. Inherent in these valuations are key assumptions, 
including discount rates and expected return on plan assets, 
which are updated on an annual basis at the beginning of each 
year. The Company is required to consider current market 
conditions, including changes in interest rates, in making these 
assumptions. Changes in pension costs may occur in the 
future due to changes in these assumptions. The key assump-
tions used in accounting for the defined benefit retirement 
plans were a 4.0% discount rate and a 7.25% expected long-
term rate of return on plan assets as of December 31, 2011.

Discount Rate
The Company evaluates several approaches toward setting 
the discount rate assumption that is used to value the benefit 
obligations of its retirement plans. At year-end, priority was 
given to use of the Citigroup Pension Discount Curve and 
anticipated cash outflows of each retirement plan were  
discounted with the spot yields from the Citigroup Pension 
Discount Curve. A single-effective discount rate assumption 
was then determined for each retirement plan based on this 
analysis. A one percentage point decrease or increase in the 
discount rate would have resulted in a respective increase or 
decrease in 2011 retirement plan expense of $1.8.

Return on Plan Assets
In establishing its expected return on plan assets assumption, 
the Company reviews its asset allocation and develops return 
assumptions based on different asset classes adjusting for plan 
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operating expenses. Actual asset over/under performance 
compared to expected returns will respectively decrease/
increase unrecognized loss. The change in the unrecognized 
loss will change amortization cost in upcoming periods. A one 
percentage point increase or decrease in the expected return 
on plan assets would have resulted in a corresponding 
change in 2011 pension expense of $2.5.
	 Net pension cost for 2011 was $8.6 as compared with  
$9.6 in 2010 and $36.6 in 2009 (including the impact of the 
$2.8 non-recurring net curtailment charge). The decrease in 
pension expense in 2011 and 2010 was due to the changes  
to the Company Plan and PEP. Projected pension expense  
for the Company Plan and the PEP is expected to increase 
from $8.6 in 2011 to $12.2 in 2012.
	 Further information on the Company’s defined benefit  
retirement plan is provided in Note 16 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Accruals for Self-Insurance Reserves 
Accruals for self-insurance reserves (including workers’  
compensation, auto and employee medical) are determined 
based on a number of assumptions and factors, including  
historical payment trends and claims history, actuarial assump-
tions and current and estimated future economic conditions. 
These estimated liabilities are not discounted.
	 The Company is self-insured (up to certain limits) for  
professional liability claims arising in the normal course of  
business, generally related to the testing and reporting of  
laboratory test results. The Company maintains excess  
insurance which limits the Company’s maximum exposure  
on individual claims. The Company estimates a liability that 
represents the ultimate exposure for aggregate losses below 
those limits. The liability is discounted and is based on a  
number of assumptions and factors for known and incurred 
but not reported claims based on an actuarial assessment of 
the accrual driven by frequency and amount of claims.
	 If actual trends differ from these estimates, the financial 
results could be impacted. Historical trends have not differed 
materially from these estimates.

Income Taxes 
The Company accounts for income taxes utilizing the asset 
and liability method. Under this method deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences 
attributable to differences between the financial statement  

carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases and for tax loss carryforwards. Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates 
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which 
those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or 
settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a 
change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that 
includes the enactment date. The Company does not recog-
nize a tax benefit, unless the Company concludes that it is 
more likely than not that the benefit will be sustained on audit 
by the taxing authority based solely on the technical merits  
of the associated tax position. If the recognition threshold is 
met, the Company recognizes a tax benefit measured at the 
largest amount of the tax benefit that the Company believes  
is greater than 50% likely to be realized. The Company  
records interest and penalties in income tax expense.

Forward-Looking Statements
The Company has made in this report, and from time to time 
may otherwise make in its public filings, press releases and 
discussions by Company management, forward-looking 
statements concerning the Company’s operations, perfor-
mance and financial condition, as well as its strategic  
objectives. Some of these forward-looking statements can 
be identified by the use of forward-looking words such as 
“believes”, “expects”, “may”, “will”, “should”, “seeks”, 
“approximately”, “intends”, “plans”, “estimates”, or “antici-
pates” or the negative of those words or other comparable 
terminology. Such forward-looking statements are subject to 
various risks and uncertainties and the Company claims the 
protection afforded by the safe harbor for forward-looking 
statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation 
Reform Act of 1995. Actual results could differ materially  
from those currently anticipated due to a number of factors  
in addition to those discussed elsewhere herein and in the 
Company’s other public filings, press releases and discus-
sions with Company management, including:

	 1.�	changes in federal, state, local and third party payer 
regulations or policies or other future reforms in the 
health care system (or in the interpretation of current 
regulations), new insurance or payment systems, includ-
ing state or regional insurance cooperatives, new public 
insurance programs or a single-payer system, affecting 
governmental and third-party coverage or reimburse-
ment for clinical laboratory testing;
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	25.	 �failure of the Company’s financial information systems 
resulting in failure to meet required financial reporting 
deadlines;

	26.	 �failure of the Company’s disaster recovery plans to  
provide adequate protection against the interruption  
of business and/or to permit the recovery of business 
operations;

	27.	 �business interruption or other impact on the business 
due to adverse weather (including hurricanes), fires 
and/or other natural disasters, labor unrest, terrorism 
or other criminal acts, and/or widespread outbreak of 
influenza or other pandemic illness;

	28.	 �liabilities that result from the inability to comply with 
corporate governance requirements;

	29.	 �significant deterioration in the economy or financial 
markets which could negatively impact the Company’s 
testing volumes, cash collections and the availability  
of credit for general liquidity or other financing needs;

	30.	 �changes in reimbursement by foreign governments 
and foreign currency fluctuations; and

	31.	 �expenses and risks associated with international  
operations, including compliance with laws and  
regulations that differ from the United States, and  
economic, political, legal and other operational risks 
associated with foreign markets.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure  
About Market Risk
The Company addresses its exposure to market risks, principally 
the market risk associated with changes in interest rates, through 
a controlled program of risk management that includes, from 
time to time, the use of derivative financial instruments such as 
interest rate swap agreements. Although, as set forth below, 
the Company’s zero-coupon subordinated notes contain 
features that are considered to be embedded derivative 
instruments, the Company does not hold or issue derivative 
financial instruments for trading purposes. The Company 
does not believe that its exposure to market risk is material 
to the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

	 The Company’s zero-coupon subordinated notes contain 
the following two features that are considered to be embed-
ded derivative instruments under authoritative guidance in 
connection with accounting for derivative instruments and 
hedging activities:

	 1. �The Company will pay contingent cash interest on the 
zero-coupon subordinated notes after September 11, 
2006, if the average market price of the notes equals 
120% or more of the sum of the issue price, accrued 
original issue discount and contingent additional  
principal, if any, for a specified measurement period.

	 2. �Holders may surrender zero-coupon subordinated notes 
for conversion during any period in which the rating 
assigned to the zero-coupon subordinated notes by 
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services is BB- or lower.

	 Borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facility  
are subject to variable interest rates, unless fixed through  
interest rate swaps or other agreements.
	 The Company’s Ontario, Canada consolidated joint venture 
operates in Canada and, accordingly, the earnings and cash 
flows generated from the Ontario operations are subject to  
foreign currency exchange risk.
	 The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Orchid, has  
operations in the United Kingdom and, accordingly the  
earnings and cash flows generated from Orchid’s United 
Kingdom operation are subject to foreign currency risk.
	 The Alberta, Canada joint venture partnership operates  
in Canada and remits the Company’s share of partnership 
income in Canadian dollars. Accordingly, the cash flow 
received from this affiliate is subject to foreign currency 
exchange risk.
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The Company’s management is responsible for establishing 
and maintaining adequate internal control over financial  
reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934).
	 The internal control over financial reporting at the Company 
was designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Internal control over financial reporting includes those 
policies and procedures that:
 

•	 �pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the Company;

•	 �provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America;

•	 �provide reasonable assurance that receipts and expendi-
tures of the Company are being made only in accordance 
with authorization of management and directors of the 
Company; and

•	 �provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or  
disposition of assets that could have a material effect  
on the consolidated financial statements.

	 Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
	 The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as 
of December 31, 2011. Management based this assessment 
on criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting 
described in “Internal Control – Integrated Framework” 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based on this assessment, the 
Company’s management determined that, as of December 31, 
2011, the Company maintained effective internal control over 
financial reporting. Management reviewed the results of its 
assessment with the Audit Committee of the Company’s 
Board of Directors.
	 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered 
public accounting firm, who audited and reported on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company included 
in this annual report, also audited the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2011 as stated in its report, which is included 
herein immediately preceding the Company’s audited  
financial statements.

Laboratory Corporation of America

Report of Management on Internal Control  
Over Financial Reporting
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings:

In our opinion, the consolidated balance sheets and related 
consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders’ 
equity, and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Laboratory Corporation of America 
Holdings and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2011 and 2010, 
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2011 in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company 
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management 
is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining 
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over 
financial reporting, included in the Report of Management 
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under 
Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these 
financial statements and on the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement and whether 
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained 
in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements 
included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates  
made by management, and evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over 
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of 
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that 
a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the 

design and operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing 
such other procedures as we considered necessary in  
the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a  
reasonable basis for our opinions.
	 A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a 
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance  
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s 
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies 
and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records 
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the  
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; 
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company 
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely  
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of 
the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.
	 Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future 
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become  
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the 
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures  
may deteriorate.
 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Greensboro, North Carolina
February 23, 2012

Laboratory Corporation of America

Report of Independent Registered  
Public Accounting Firm
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Laboratory Corporation of America

Consolidated Statements of Operations

	 Years Ended December 31,

(In Millions, Except Per Share Data)	 2011	 2010	 2009

Net sales	 $	5,542.3	 $	5,003.9	 $	4,694.7

Cost of sales		  3,267.6		  2,906.1		  2,723.8

Gross profit		  2,274.7		  2,097.8		  1,970.9

Selling, general and administrative expenses	 	 1,159.6		  1,034.3		  958.9

Amortization of intangibles and other assets		  85.8		  72.7		  62.6

Restructuring and other special charges		  80.9		  12.0		  13.5

Operating income	 	 948.4		  978.8		  935.9

Other income (expenses):	  		   		   

	 Interest expense		  (87.5)		  (70.0)		  (62.9)

	 Equity method income, net		  9.5		  10.6		  13.8

	 Investment income		  1.3		  1.1		  1.6

	 Other, net		  (5.6)		  (4.9)		  (3.8)

Earnings before income taxes		  866.1		  915.6		  884.6

Provision for income taxes		  333.0		  344.0		  329.0

Net earnings		  533.1		  571.6		  555.6

	 Less: Net earnings attributable to the noncontrolling interest		  (13.4)		  (13.4)		  (12.3)

Net earnings attributable to Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings	 $	 519.7	 $	 558.2	 $	 543.3

Basic earnings per common share	 $	 5.20	 $	 5.42	 $	 5.06

Diluted earnings per common share	 $	 5.11	 $	 5.29	 $	 4.98

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Laboratory Corporation of America

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

									         Accumulated 
						      Additional			   Other	 Total 
					     Common	 Paid-in	 Retained	 Treasury	 Comprehensive	 Shareholders’ 
(In Millions)		  Stock	 Capital	 Earnings	 Stock	 Income (Loss)	 Equity

Balance at December 31, 2008	 $	12.8	 $	 237.4	 $	2,384.6	 $	(929.8)	 $	 (16.7)	 $	1,688.3
Comprehensive earnings:	  		   		   		   		   		   
	 Net earnings attributable to Laboratory  
		  Corporation of America Holdings		  –		  –		  543.3		  –		  –		  543.3
	 Other comprehensive earnings:	  		   		   		   		   		   
		  Foreign currency translation adjustments		  –		  –		  –		  –		  93.3		  93.3
		  Interest rate swap adjustments		  –		  –		  –		  –		  2.9		  2.9
		  Net benefit plan adjustments		  –		  –		  –		  –		  31.5		  31.5
		  Tax effect of other comprehensive earnings adjustments		  –		  –		  –		  –		  (49.5)		  (49.5)

	 Comprehensive earnings	  		   		   		   					     621.5
Issuance of common stock under employee stock plans		  –		  24.8		  –		  –		  –		  24.8
Surrender of restricted stock awards and performance shares		 –		  –		  –		  (2.7)		  –		  (2.7)
Conversion of zero-coupon convertible debt		  0.1		  11.3		  –		  –		  –		  11.4
Stock compensation		  –		  36.4		  –		  –		  –		  36.4
Income tax benefit from stock options exercised		  –		  (0.1)		  –		  –		  –		  (0.1)
Purchase of common stock		  (0.4)		  (273.1)		  –		  –		  –		  (273.5)

Balance at December 31, 2009	 $	12.5	 $	 36.7	 $	2,927.9	 $	(932.5)	 $	 61.5	 $	2,106.1
Comprehensive earnings:	  		   		   		   		   		   
	 Net earnings attributable to Laboratory  
		  Corporation of America Holdings		  –		  –		  558.2		  –		  –		  558.2
	 Other comprehensive earnings:	  		   		   		   		   		   
		  Foreign currency translation adjustments		  –		  –		  –		  –		  41.3		  41.3
		  Interest rate swap adjustments		  –		  –		  –		  –		  8.2		  8.2
		  Net benefit plan adjustments		  –		  –		  –		  –		  (8.3)		  (8.3)
		  Tax effect of other comprehensive earnings adjustments		  –		  –		  –		  –		  (14.2)		  (14.2)

	 Comprehensive earnings	  		   		   							       585.2
Issuance of common stock under employee stock plans		  0.2		  83.2		  –		  –		  –		  83.4
Surrender of restricted stock awards		  –		  –		  –		  (2.4)		  –		  (2.4)
Conversion of zero-coupon convertible debt		  –		  1.1		  –		  –		  –		  1.1
Stock compensation		  –		  40.0		  –		  –		  –		  40.0
Value of noncontrolling interest put		  –		  (17.2)		  –		  –		  –		  (17.2)
Income tax benefit adjustments related to stock options exercised		  –		  7.6		  –		  –		  –		  7.6
Purchase of common stock		  (0.5)		  (97.5)		  (239.5)		  –		  –		  (337.5)

Balance at December 31, 2010	 $	12.2	 $	 53.9	 $	3,246.6	 $	(934.9)	 $	 88.5	 $	2,466.3
Comprehensive earnings:	  		   		   		   		   		   
	 Net earnings attributable to Laboratory  
		  Corporation of America Holdings		  –		  –		  519.7		  –		  –		  519.7
	 Other comprehensive earnings:	  		   		   		   		   		   
		  Foreign currency translation adjustments		  –		  –		  –		  –		  (13.2)		  (13.2)
		  Interest rate swap adjustments		  –		  –		  –		  –		  2.4		  2.4
		  Net benefit plan adjustments		  –		  –		  –		  –		  (57.5)		  (57.5)
		  Tax effect of other comprehensive earnings adjustments		  –		  –		  –		  –		  25.3		  25.3

	 Comprehensive earnings	  		   		   		   				     	 476.7
Issuance of common stock under employee stock plans		  0.1		  118.4		  –		  –		  –		  118.5
Surrender of restricted stock awards		  –		  –		  –		  (6.0)		  –		  (6.0)
Conversion of zero-coupon convertible debt		  0.1		  36.1		  –		  –		  –		  36.2
Stock compensation		  –		  48.9		  –		  –		  –		  48.9
Purchase of noncontrolling interest		  –		  (3.7)		  –		  –		  –		  (3.7)
Income tax benefit from stock options exercised		  –		  10.5		  –		  –		  –		  10.5
Purchase of common stock		  (0.7)		  (264.1)		  (379.1)		  –		  –		  (643.9)

Balance at December 31, 2011	 $	11.7	 $	 –	 $	3,387.2	 $	(940.9)	 $	 45.5	 $	2,503.5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

	 Years Ended December 31,

(In Millions)		 2011	 2010	 2009

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net earnings	 $	 533.1	 $	 571.6	 $	 555.6
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:	  		   		   
	 Depreciation and amortization	 	 231.4		  203.6		  195.1
	 Stock compensation		  48.9		  40.0		  36.4
	 Loss on sale of assets		  7.2		  4.1		  2.6
	 Accrued interest on zero-coupon subordinated notes		  3.9		  5.8		  8.3
	 Cumulative earnings less than distributions from  
		  equity method investments		  1.4		  6.3		  2.2
	 Deferred income taxes		  2.2		  12.9		  9.6
	 Change in assets and liabilities (net of effects of acquisitions):	  		   		   
		  (Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (net)		  (37.1)		  (25.3)		  74.0
		  Increase in inventories		  (6.1)		  (5.8)		  (4.3)
		  (Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other		  9.8		  (13.5)		  5.9
		  Increase (decrease) in accounts payable		  (8.7)		  50.1		  22.8
		  Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses and other		  69.6		  33.8		  (45.8)

Net cash provided by operating activities	 	 855.6		  883.6		  862.4

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures		  (145.7)		  (126.1)		  (114.7)
Proceeds from sale of assets		  3.7		  4.8		  0.9
Deferred payments on acquisitions		  (1.0)		  (4.5)		  (3.3)
Acquisition of licensing technology		  –		  (0.4)		  –
Investments in equity affiliates		  –		  (10.0)		  (4.3)
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired		  (137.3)		 (1,181.3)		  (212.6)

Net cash used for investing activities		  (280.3)		 (1,317.5)		  (334.0)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Proceeds from senior notes offerings		  –		  925.0		  –
Proceeds from revolving credit facilities		  880.0		  160.0		  4.2
Payments on revolving credit facilities		  (320.0)		  (235.0)		  –
Principal payments on term loan		  (375.0)		  (50.0)		  (50.0)
Payments on zero-coupon subordinated notes		  (155.1)		  (11.4)		  (289.4)
Payments on vendor-financed equipment	 	 –		  (1.3)		  (1.5)
Decrease in bank overdraft		  –		  –		  (5.0)
Payments on long-term debt		  (0.9)		  (0.1)		  (0.1)
Payment of debt issuance costs		  (3.6)		  (9.7)		  (0.1)
Proceeds from sale of interest in a consolidated subsidiary		  –		  137.5		  –
Cash paid to acquire an interest in a consolidated subsidiary		  (147.9)		  (137.5)		  –
Noncontrolling interest distributions		  (7.4)		  (12.6)		  (11.3)
Excess tax benefits from stock based compensation		  10.4		  5.1		  0.5
Net proceeds from issuance of stock to employees		  118.4		  83.4		  24.8
Purchase of common stock		  (643.9)		  (338.1)		  (273.0)

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities		  (645.0)		  515.3		  (600.9)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents		  (1.7)		  0.8		  1.3

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		  (71.4)		  82.2		  (71.2)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period		  230.7		  148.5		  219.7

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	 $	 159.3	 $	 230.7	 $	 148.5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. �Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Financial Statement Presentation
Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings with its subsidiaries 
(the “Company”) is the second largest independent clinical  
laboratory company in the United States based on 2011 net 
revenues. Through a national network of laboratories, the  
Company offers a broad range of testing services used by the 
medical profession in routine testing, patient diagnosis, and  
in the monitoring and treatment of disease. In addition, the 
Company has developed specialty and niche operations based 
on certain types of specialized testing capabilities and client 
requirements, such as oncology testing, HIV genotyping and 
phenotyping, diagnostic genetics and clinical research trials.
	 Since its founding in 1971, the Company has grown into  
a network of 54 primary laboratories and over 1,700 patient 
service centers along with a network of branches and STAT 
laboratories. With over 31,000 employees, the Company  
processes tests on more than 450,000 patient specimens 
daily and provides clinical laboratory testing services in all  
50 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, Belgium, 
Japan, the United Kingdom, China, Singapore and three  
provinces in Canada. The Company operates within one 
reportable segment based on the way the Company manages 
its business.
	 The consolidated financial statements include the accounts 
of the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries for which it 
exercises control. Long-term investments in affiliated companies 
in which the Company exercises significant influence, but which 
it does not control, are accounted for using the equity method. 
Investments in which the Company does not exercise significant 
influence (generally, when the Company has an investment of 
less than 20% and no representation on the investee’s board 
of directors) are accounted for using the cost method. All  
significant inter-company transactions and accounts have been 
eliminated. The Company does not have any variable interest 
entities or special purpose entities whose financial results are 
not included in the consolidated financial statements.
	 The financial statements of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries 
are measured using the local currency as the functional currency. 
Assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates as of the 
balance sheet date.  Revenues and expenses are translated 
at average monthly exchange rates prevailing during the year.  
Resulting translation adjustments are included in “Accumulated 
other comprehensive income.”

Revenue Recognition
Sales are recognized on the accrual basis at the time test 
results are reported, which approximates when services are 
provided. Services are provided to certain patients covered by 
various third-party payer programs including various managed 
care organizations, as well as the Medicare and Medicaid  
programs. Billings for services under third-party payer  
programs are included in sales net of allowances for contrac-
tual discounts and allowances for differences between the 
amounts billed and estimated program payment amounts. 
Adjustments to the estimated payment amounts based on 
final settlement with the programs are recorded upon  
settlement as an adjustment to revenue. In 2011, 2010 and 
2009, approximately 19.0%, 19.4% and 19.1%, respectively, 
of the Company’s revenues were derived directly from the 
Medicare and Medicaid programs. The Company has capi-
tated agreements with certain managed care customers and  
recognizes related revenue based on a predetermined monthly 
contractual rate for each member of the managed care plan 
regardless of the number or cost of services provided by the 
Company. In 2011, 2010 and 2009, approximately 2.9%, 
3.1% and 3.6%, respectively, of the Company’s revenues  
were derived from such capitated agreements.
	 In connection with revenue arrangements with multiple 
deliverables, revenue is deferred until the Company can  
reasonably estimate when the performance obligation ceases 
or becomes inconsequential.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with  
generally accepted accounting principles requires the  
Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect  
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure  
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reported periods. Significant estimates 
include the allowances for doubtful accounts, deferred tax 
assets, fair values and amortization lives for intangible assets 
and accruals for self-insurance reserves and pensions. The 
allowance for doubtful accounts is determined based on  
historical collections trends, the aging of accounts, current 
economic conditions and regulatory changes. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates.
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Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to 
concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash 
equivalents and accounts receivable.
	T he Company maintains cash and cash equivalents with 
various major financial institutions. The total cash balances on 
deposit that exceeded the balances insured by the F.D.I.C., 
were approximately $63.1 at December 31, 2011. Cash  
equivalents at December 31, 2011, totaled $48.5, which 
includes amounts invested in money market funds, time 
deposits, municipal, treasury and government funds.
	 Substantially all of the Company’s accounts receivable are 
with companies in the health care industry and individuals. 
However, concentrations of credit risk are limited due to the 
number of the Company’s clients as well as their dispersion 
across many different geographic regions.

	A ccounts receivable balances (gross) from Medicare and 
Medicaid were $138.3 and $125.0 at December 31, 2011 and 
2010, respectively.

Earnings per Share
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net earnings, 
less preferred stock dividends and accretion, by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted  
earnings per share is computed by dividing net earnings 
including the impact of dilutive adjustments by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding plus  
potentially dilutive shares, as if they had been issued at the 
earlier of the date of issuance or the beginning of the period 
presented. Potentially dilutive common shares result primarily 
from the Company’s outstanding stock options, restricted 
stock awards, performance share awards, and shares issuable 
upon conversion of zero-coupon subordinated notes.

	T he following represents a reconciliation of basic earnings per share to diluted earnings per share:

	 2011	 2010	 2009

							       Per Share			   Per Share			   Per Share 
					     Income	 Shares	 Amount	 Income	 Shares	 Amount	 Income	 Shares	 Amount

Basic earnings per share		 $519.7		  100.0		 $5.20		 $558.2		  103.0		 $5.42		 $543.3	  	 107.4		 $5.06

	 Stock options		  –		  0.9				    —		  0.6			    	 —		  0.5		
	 Restricted stock awards and other		  –		  0.3			    	 —		  0.3			    	 —		  0.2		
	 Effect of convertible debt, net of tax		  –		  0.6			    	 —		  1.5			    	 —		  1.0		   

Diluted earnings per share		 $519.7		  101.8		 $5.11		 $558.2		  105.4		 $5.29		 $543.3		  109.1		 $4.98

	T he following table summarizes the potential common shares 
not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share 
because their impact would have been antidilutive:

	 Years Ended December 31,

	  						      2011	  2010	  2009
Stock options	   					     1.3		  2.7		  4.6

Stock Compensation Plans
The Company measures stock compensation cost for all  
equity awards at fair value on the date of grant and recognizes 
compensation expense over the service period for awards 
expected to vest. The fair value of restricted stock awards and 
performance shares is determined based on the number of 
shares granted and the quoted price of the Company’s  
common stock on grant date. Such value is recognized as 
expense over the service period, net of estimated forfeitures. 
The estimation of equity awards that will ultimately vest requires 
judgment and the Company considers many factors when 

estimating expected forfeitures, including types of awards, 
employee class, and historical experience. The cumulative 
effect on current and prior periods of a change in the estimated 
forfeiture rate is recognized as compensation cost in earnings 
in the period of the revision. Actual results and future estimates 
may differ substantially from the Company’s current estimates.
	 See note 14 for assumptions used in calculating compen-
sation expense for the Company’s stock compensation plans.

Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents (primarily investments in money market funds, 
time deposits, municipal, treasury and government funds which 
have original maturities of three months or less at the date of 
purchase) are carried at cost which approximates market.

Inventories
Inventories, consisting primarily of purchased laboratory 
and client supplies, are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, 
first-out) or market.
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Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. The cost 
of properties held under capital leases is equal to the lower of 
the net present value of the minimum lease payments or the 
fair value of the leased property at the inception of the lease. 
Depreciation and amortization expense is computed on all 
classes of assets based on their estimated useful lives, as 
indicated below, using principally the straight-line method.

		  Years

Buildings and building improvements								        35
Machinery and equipment	 									         3-10
Furniture and fixtures										          5-10

	 Leasehold improvements and assets held under capital 
leases are amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful 
lives or the term of the related leases. Expenditures for 
repairs and maintenance are charged to operations as incurred. 
Retirements, sales and other disposals of assets are recorded 
by removing the cost and accumulated depreciation from the 
related accounts with any resulting gain or loss reflected in the 
consolidated statements of operations.

Capitalized Software Costs
The Company capitalizes purchased software which is ready 
for service and capitalizes software development costs  
incurred on significant projects starting from the time that the 
preliminary project stage is completed and the Company  
commits to funding a project until the project is substantially 
complete and the software is ready for its intended use.  
Capitalized costs include direct material and service costs  
and payroll and payroll-related costs. Research and develop-
ment costs and other computer software maintenance costs 
related to software development are expensed as incurred. 
Capitalized software costs are amortized using the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful life of the underlying system, 
generally five years.

Long-Lived Assets
Goodwill is evaluated for impairment by applying a fair value 
based test on an annual basis and more frequently if events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might 
be impaired.
	 Long-lived assets, other than goodwill, are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is determined by 

the Company at the level for which there are identifiable cash 
flows by comparison of the carrying amount of the assets to 
future undiscounted net cash flows before interest expense and 
income taxes expected to be generated by the assets. Impair-
ment, if any, is measured by the amount by which the carrying 
amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets (based 
on market prices in an active market or on discounted cash 
flows). Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of 
the carrying amount or fair value. 
	 The Company completed an annual impairment analysis 
of its indefinite lived assets, including goodwill, and has found 
no instances of impairment as of December 31, 2011.

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets (patents and technology, customer relationships 
and non-compete agreements), are amortized on a straight-
line basis over the expected periods to be benefited, such as 
legal life for patents and technology, 10 to 25 years for cus-
tomer lists and contractual lives for non-compete agreements. 

Debt Issuance Costs
The costs related to the issuance of debt are capitalized and 
amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method 
over the terms of the related debt.

Professional Liability
The Company is self-insured (up to certain limits) for professional 
liability claims arising in the normal course of business, generally 
related to the testing and reporting of laboratory test results. 
The Company estimates a liability that represents the ultimate 
exposure for aggregate losses below those limits. The liability 
is discounted and is based on a number of assumptions and 
factors for known and incurred but not reported claims based 
on actuarial assessment of the accrual driven by frequency and 
amount of claims.

Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes utilizing the asset 
and liability method. Under this method deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences 
attributable to differences between the financial statement 
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases and for tax loss carryforwards. Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates 
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which 
those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or 
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settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a 
change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that 
includes the enactment date. The Company does not recognize 
a tax benefit, unless the Company concludes that it is more 
likely than not that the benefit will be sustained on audit by the 
taxing authority based solely on the technical merits of the 
associated tax position. If the recognition threshold is met, the 
Company recognizes a tax benefit measured at the largest 
amount of the tax benefit that the Company believes is greater 
than 50% likely to be realized. The Company records interest 
and penalties in income tax expense.

Derivative Financial Instruments
Interest rate swap agreements, which have been used by the 
Company from time to time in the management of interest  
rate exposure, are accounted for at fair value. The Company’s 
zero-coupon subordinated notes contain two features that  
are considered to be embedded derivative instruments under 
authoritative guidance in connection with accounting for  
derivative instruments and hedging activities. The Company 
believes these embedded derivatives had no fair value at 
December 31, 2011 and 2010.
	 See note 18 for the Company’s objectives in using derivative 
instruments and the effect of derivative instruments and  
related hedged items on the Company’s financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Fair value measurements for financial assets and liabilities are 
determined based on the assumptions that a market participant 
would use in pricing an asset or liability. A three-tiered fair  
value hierarchy draws distinctions between market participant 
assumptions based on (i) observable inputs such as quoted 
prices in active markets (Level 1), (ii) inputs other than quoted 
prices in active markets that are observable either directly or 
indirectly (Level 2) and (iii) unobservable inputs that require the 
Company to use present value and other valuation techniques 
in the determination of fair value (Level 3).

Research and Development
The Company expenses research and development costs  
as incurred.

New Accounting Pronouncements
In September 2011, the FASB issued authoritative guidance  
to amend and simplify the rules related to testing goodwill for 

impairment. The revised guidance allows an entity to make an 
initial qualitative evaluation, based on the entity’s events and 
circumstances, to determine whether it is more likely than not 
that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying 
amount. The results of this qualitative assessment determine 
whether it is necessary to perform the currently required two-
step impairment test. The new guidance is effective for annual 
and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal  
years beginning after December 15, 2011, with early adoption 
permitted. Adoption of this guidance is not expected to have  
a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements.
	 In July 2011, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on  
the presentation and disclosure of patient service revenue, 
provision for bad debts, and the allowance for doubtful accounts 
for certain health care entities. This literature was issued to 
provide greater transparency about a health care entity’s net 
patient service revenue and the related allowance for doubtful 
accounts. Specifically, this literature requires the provision for 
bad debts associated with patient service revenue to be  
separately displayed on the face of the statement of operations 
as a component of net revenue for health care entities that 
provide services regardless of a patient’s ability to pay. The 
guidance also requires enhanced disclosures of significant 
changes in estimates in the provision for bad debts relating  
to patient services when an entity recognizes revenue regard-
less of a patient’s ability to pay. This guidance is effective for 
fiscal years and interim periods beginning after December 15, 
2011, with early adoption permitted. The Company does not 
believe the adoption of the authoritative guidance in the first 
quarter of 2012 will have an impact on its consolidated  
financial statements.
	 In June 2011, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on 
the presentation of comprehensive income. Specifically, this lit-
erature allows an entity to present components of net earnings 
and other comprehensive income in one continuous state-
ment, referred to as the statement of comprehensive income, 
or in two separate, but consecutive statements. The authorita-
tive guidance eliminates the current option to report other 
comprehensive income and its components in the statement 
of changes in shareholders’ equity. While the authoritative 
guidance changes the presentation of comprehensive income, 
there are no changes to the components that are recognized 
in net earnings or other comprehensive income under current 
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accounting guidance. The guidance is effective for fiscal years 
and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2011. The 
Company does not believe the adoption of the authoritative 
guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2012 will have an impact 
on its consolidated financial position, results of operations or 
cash flows.
	 In May 2011, the FASB issued authoritative guidance to 
achieve common fair value measurement and disclosure 
requirements between U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles and International Financial Reporting Standards. 
This new literature amends current fair value measurement 
and disclosure guidance to include increased transparency 
around valuation inputs and investment categorization. The 
guidance is effective for fiscal years and interim periods  
beginning after December 15, 2011. The Company does not 
believe the adoption of the authoritative guidance in the first 
quarter of fiscal 2012 will have an impact on its consolidated 
financial statements.

2. �Business Acquisitions
During the twelve months ended December 31, 2011, the 
Company acquired various laboratories and related assets  
for approximately $137.3 in cash (net of cash acquired).  
These acquisitions were made primarily to extend the  
Company’s geographic reach in important market areas  
and/or enhance the Company’s scientific differentiation and 
esoteric testing capabilities.
	 In April 2011, the Company and Orchid Cellmark Inc. 
(“Orchid”) announced that they had entered into a definitive 
agreement and plan of merger under which the Company 
would acquire all of the outstanding shares of Orchid in a cash 
tender offer for $2.80 per share for a total purchase price to 
stockholders and optionholders of approximately $85.4. The 
tender offer and the merger were subject to customary closing 
conditions set forth in the agreement and plan of merger, 
including the acquisition in the tender offer of a majority of 
Orchid’s fully diluted shares and the expiration or early  
termination of the waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino 
Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (“HSR Act”). 
The Company received lawsuits filed by putative classes of 
shareholders of Orchid in New Jersey and Delaware state 
courts and federal court in New Jersey alleging breaches of 
fiduciary duty and/or other violations of state law arising out  
of the proposed acquisition of Orchid. Both Orchid and the 

Company are named in the lawsuits. The federal court lawsuit 
was subsequently dismissed and the New Jersey state court 
actions have been stayed. The remaining Delaware lawsuits 
have been consolidated and will be vigorously defended.
	 On December 8, 2011, the Company announced that it  
had reached an agreement with the U.S. Federal Trade  
Commission allowing the Company to complete its acquisition 
of Orchid. Under the terms of the proposed consent decree 
that was accepted by the FTC for public comment, the  
Company is required to divest certain assets of Orchid’s U.S. 
government paternity business following closing of the  
acquisition. On December 16, 2011, the Company sold those 
assets to DNA Diagnostics Center, a privately held provider of 
DNA paternity testing. The Company completed its acquisition 
of Orchid on December 15, 2011.  It has recorded a $2.8 non-
deductible loss on the divestiture of Orchid’s U.S. government 
paternity business in Other Income and Expense in the 
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.
	 The Orchid purchase consideration has been allocated to 
the estimated fair market value of the net assets acquired, 
including approximately $28.8 in identifiable intangible assets 
(primarily non-tax deductible customer relationships, trade 
names and trademarks) with weighted-average useful lives of 
approximately 12 years; $9.1 in deferred tax liabilities (relating 
to identifiable intangible assets); net operating loss tax assets  
of approximately $20.2, which are expected to be realized 
over a period of 20 years; and a residual amount of non-tax 
deductible goodwill of approximately $27.2. The purchase 
price allocation for this acquisition is preliminary and subject  
to adjustment based on changes in the fair value of working 
capital and other assets and liabilities on the effective  
acquisition date and final valuation of intangible assets. 
	 The partnership units of the holders of the noncontrolling 
interest in the Ontario, Canada (“Ontario”) joint venture were 
acquired by the Company on February 8, 2010 for $137.5. On 
February 17, 2010, the Company completed a transaction to 
sell the units acquired from the previous noncontrolling interest 
holder to a new Canadian partner for the same price. As a 
result of this transaction, the Company recorded a component 
of noncontrolling interest in other liabilities and a component in 
mezzanine equity as the joint venture’s partnership agreement 
enabled one of the holders of the noncontrolling interest to put 
its remaining partnership units to the Company in defined 
future periods, at an initial amount equal to the consideration 
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paid by that holder in 2010, and subject to adjustment based 
on market value formulas contained in the agreement. Upon 
the completion of these two transactions, the Company’s 
financial ownership percentage in the joint venture partnership 
remained unchanged at 85.6%. Concurrent with the sale to 
the new partner, the partnership agreement for the Ontario 
joint venture was amended and restated with substantially  
the same terms as the previous agreement. 
	 On October 14, 2011, the Company issued notice to a 
noncontrolling interest holder in the Ontario joint venture of its 
intent to purchase the holder’s partnership units in accordance 
with the terms of the joint venture’s partnership agreement.  
On November 28, 2011, this purchase was completed for a 
total purchase price of $147.9 (CN$151.7) as outlined in the 
partnership agreement (CN$147.8 plus certain adjustments 
relating to cash distribution hold backs made to finance recent 
business acquisitions and capital expenditures). The purchase 
of these additional partnership units brings the Company’s 
percentage interest owned to 98.2%.
	 Net sales of the Ontario joint venture were $309.4 
(CN$306.0), $280.0 (CN$288.5) and $247.5 (CN$281.3) for 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 
2009, respectively.
	 On December 1, 2010, the Company acquired Genzyme 
Genetics, a business unit of Genzyme Corporation, for 
approximately $925.2 in cash (net of cash acquired). The  
Genzyme Genetics acquisition was made to expand the  
Company’s capabilities in reproductive, genetic, hematology-
oncology and clinical trials central laboratory testing, enhance 
the Company’s esoteric testing capabilities and advance the 
Company’s personalized medicine strategy.
	 The Genzyme Genetics purchase consideration has been 
allocated to the estimated fair market value of the net assets 
acquired, including approximately $279.6 in identifiable  
intangible assets (primarily customer relationships and trade 
name) with weighted-average useful lives of approximately  
23 years; and residual amount of goodwill of approximately 
$537.8. Approximately $810.5 of the total intangible value will 
be amortizable for tax purposes over 15 years.
	 On October 28, 2010, in conjunction with the acquisition  
of Genzyme Genetics, the Company entered into a $925.0 
bridge term loan credit agreement. The Company replaced 
and terminated the bridge term loan credit agreement in 
November 2010 by making an offering in the debt capital  

markets. On November 19, 2010, the Company sold $925.0 
in debt securities, consisting of $325.0 aggregate principal 
amount of 3.125% Senior Notes due May 15, 2016 and $600.0 
aggregate principal amount of 4.625% Senior Notes due 
November 15, 2020. As of December 31, 2010 the Company 
incurred $7.0 of financing commitment fees, which was included 
in interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2010.
	 The Company incurred approximately $25.7 in professional 
fees and expenses in connection with the acquisition of  
Genzyme Genetics and other acquisition activity, including  
significant costs associated with the Federal Trade Commis-
sion’s review of the Company’s purchase of specified net 
assets of Westcliff Medical Laboratories, Inc. These fees and 
expenses are included in selling, general and administrative 
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2010.
	 During the year ended December 31, 2010, the  
Company also acquired various laboratories and related 
assets for approximately $256.1 in cash (net of cash  
acquired). These acquisitions were made primarily to extend 
the Company’s geographic reach in important market areas 
and/or enhance the Company’s scientific differentiation and 
esoteric testing capabilities.
	 During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company 
acquired various laboratories and related assets for approxi-
mately $212.6 in cash (net of cash acquired). The acquisition 
activity primarily included the acquisition of Monogram  
Biosciences, Inc. (“Monogram”) effective August 3, 2009 for 
approximately $160.0 in cash (net of cash acquired). The 
Monogram acquisition was made to enhance the Company’s 
scientific differentiation and esoteric testing capabilities and 
advance the Company’s personalized medicine strategy.
	 The Monogram purchase consideration has been allocated 
to the estimated fair market value of the net assets acquired, 
including approximately $63.5 in identifiable intangible assets 
(primarily non-tax deductible customer relationships, patents 
and technology, and trade name) with weighted-average  
useful lives of approximately 15 years; net operating loss tax 
assets of approximately $44.8, which are expected to be  
realized over a period of 18 years; and residual amount of  
non-tax deductible goodwill of approximately $83.6.
	 Monogram has an active research and development 
department, which is primarily focused on the development of 
oncology and infectious disease technology. As a result of this 
acquisition, the Company incurred approximately $8.5, $12.1 
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and $5.2 of research and development expenses (included in 
selling, general and administrative expenses) for the years 
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
	 In connection with the Monogram acquisition, the Company 
incurred approximately $2.7 in transaction fees and expenses 
(included in selling, general and administrative expenses) for 
the year ended December 31, 2009.

3. ��Restructuring and Other Special Charges
During 2011, the Company recorded net restructuring charges 
of $44.6. Of this amount, $27.4 related to severance and other 
personnel costs, and $22.0 primarily related to facility-related 
costs associated with the ongoing integration of certain  
acquisitions including Genzyme Genetics and Westcliff. These 
charges were offset by restructuring credits of $4.8 resulting 
from the reversal of unused severance and facility closure  
liabilities. In addition, the Company recorded fixed assets 
impairment charges of $18.9 primarily related to equipment, 
computer systems and leasehold improvements in closed 
facilities. The Company also recorded special charges of $14.8 
related to the write-off of certain assets and liabilities related to 
an investment made in prior years, along with a $2.6 write-off 
of an uncollectible receivable from a past installment sale of 
one of the Company’s lab operations.
	 During 2010, the Company recorded net restructuring 
charges of $5.8 primarily related to the closing of redundant 
and underutilized facilities. Of this amount, $8.0 related to  
severance and other employee costs for employees primarily in 
the affected facilities, and $3.1 related to contractual obligations 
associated with leased facilities and other facility related costs. 
The Company also reduced its prior restructuring accruals by 
$5.3, comprised of $4.7 of previously recorded facility costs 
and $0.6 of employee severance benefits as a result of changes 
in cost estimates on the restructuring initiatives. In addition,  
the Company recorded a special charge of $6.2 related to  
the write-off of development costs incurred on systems  
abandoned during the year.
	 During 2009, the Company recorded net restructuring 
charges of $13.5 primarily related to work force reductions 
and the closing of redundant and underutilized facilities. Of  
this amount, $10.5 related to severance and other employee 
costs for employees primarily in the affected facilities, and 
$12.5 related to contractual obligations associated with leased 
facilities and other facility related costs. The Company also 

reduced its prior restructuring accruals by $9.5, comprised of 
$7.3 of previously recorded facility costs and $2.2 of employee 
severance benefits as a result of incurring less cost than 
planned on those restructuring initiatives primarily resulting 
from favorable settlements on lease buy-outs and severance 
payments that were not required to achieve the planned 
reduction in work force.

4. �Restructuring Reserves
The following represents the Company’s restructuring activities 
for the period indicated:

							       Severance	 Lease
							       and Other	 and Other
							       Employee	 Facility
							       Costs	 Costs	 Total
Balance as of December 31, 2010				   $	 4.9	 $	12.9	 $	 17.8
Restructuring charges						      27.4		  22.0		  49.4
Reduction of prior restructuring accruals			   (2.3)		  (2.5)		  (4.8)
Cash payments and other adjustments			  (21.6)		  (9.8)		   (31.4)

Balance as of December 31, 2011				   $	 8.4	 $	22.6	 $	 31.0

Current										         $	 16.0
Non-current										          15.0

													             $	 31.0

5. �Joint Venture Partnerships and Equity 
Method Investments

At December 31, 2011 the Company had investments in the 
following unconsolidated joint venture partnerships and equity 
method investments:

							       Net	 Percentage
Locations				    Investment	 Interest Owned
Joint Venture Partnerships:
	 Milwaukee, Wisconsin				    $	14.5		  50.00%
	 Alberta, Canada					     60.3		  43.37%
Equity Method Investments:
	 Charlotte, North Carolina				    2.0		  50.00%

	 The joint venture agreements that govern the conduct of 
business of these partnerships mandates unanimous agreement 
between partners on all major business decisions as well as 
providing other participating rights to each partner. The equity 
method investments represent the Company’s purchase of shares 
in clinical diagnostic companies. The investments are accounted 
for under the equity method of accounting as the Company 
does not have control of these investments. The Company  
has no material obligations or guarantees to, or in support of, 
these unconsolidated investments and their operations.
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	 Condensed unconsolidated financial information for joint 
venture partnerships and equity method investments is shown 
in the following table.

As of December 31:				    2011	 2010
Current assets							       $	 39.5	 $	61.9
Other assets								        39.1		  48.4

Total assets							       $	 78.6	 $	110.3

Current liabilities							       $	 19.6	 $	55.6
Other liabilities								        1.8		  17.9

Total liabilities								        21.4		  73.5
Partners’ equity							       	 57.2		  36.8

Total liabilities and partners’ equity						      $	 78.6	 $	110.3

For the period January 1 – December 31:		  2011	 2010	 2009
Net sales					     $	247.4	 $	255.5	 $	212.4
Gross profit						      73.1	 	 73.9		  69.6
Net earnings						      28.0		  20.0		  33.3

	 The Company’s recorded investment in the Alberta joint 
venture partnership at December 31, 2011 includes $47.6 
of value assigned to the partnership’s Canadian licenses (with 
an indefinite life and deductible for tax) to conduct diagnostic 
testing services in the province.

6. �Accounts Receivable, Net

							       December 31,		  December 31,
							       2011		  2010
Gross accounts receivable					    $	897.4	 		  $	 804.8
Less allowance for doubtful accounts			   	 (197.6)	 			   (149.2)

								        	 $	699.8	 		  $	 655.6

	 The provision for doubtful accounts was $255.1, $241.5 
and $248.9 in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

7. �Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

							      December 31,		  December 31,
							       2011		  2010
Land							       $	 24.8			   $	 25.8
Buildings and building improvements				    121.8				    125.4
Machinery and equipment						     616.9				    615.7
Software					     	 327.1				    299.2
Leasehold improvements						      182.5				    171.6
Furniture and fixtures					     	 53.5				    51.2
Construction in progress						      115.5				    95.6
Equipment under capital leases					     1.5	 			   3.5

									         	 1,443.6	 			  1,388.0
Less accumulated depreciation and  
	 amortization of capital lease assets				    (865.3)	 			   (801.1)

									         $	 578.3	 		  $	 586.9

	 Depreciation expense and amortization of capital lease 
assets was $141.5, $129.1 and $130.7 for 2011, 2010 and 
2009, respectively, including software depreciation of $34.0, 
$32.0, and $34.8 for 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

8. �Goodwill and Intangible Assets
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill (net of  
accumulated amortization) for the years ended December 31, 
2011 and 2010 are as follows:

								        2011	 2010
Balance as of January 1							       $	2,601.3	 $	1,897.1
Goodwill acquired during the year						      	 86.2		  704.4
Adjustments to goodwill								        (5.7)		  (0.2)

Goodwill, net						      	 $	2,681.8	 $	2,601.3

	 The components of identifiable intangible assets are as follows:

	 December 31, 2011	 December 31, 2010

					     Gross		  Gross
					     Carrying	 Accumulated	 Carrying	 Accumulated
					     Amount	 Amortization	 Amount	 Amortization
Customer relationships	 $	1,187.5	 $	(426.8)	 $	1,146.0	 $	 (370.0)
Patents, licenses and technology		  144.9	 	 (88.3)		  144.7		  (75.7)
Non-compete agreements		  28.1		  (14.8)		  26.6		  (9.4)
Trade names		  129.2		  (61.3)		  123.3		  (50.3)
Canadian licenses		  722.2		  –		  738.9		  –

					     $	2,211.9	 $	(591.2)	 $	2,179.5	 $	 (505.4)

	 A summary of amortizable intangible assets acquired during 
2011, and their respective weighted average amortization periods 
are as follows:

						      Weighted-Average
					     Amount	 Amortization Period
Customer relationships					     $	 41.6			   13.9
Patents, licenses and technology					     –				    –
Non-compete agreements						     1.7				    5.0
Trade names						      6.0				    9.8

									         $	 49.3			   13.4

Amortization of intangible assets was $85.8, $72.7 and $62.6  
in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Amortization expense of 
intangible assets is estimated to be $83.9 in fiscal 2012, $78.3 
in fiscal 2013, $75.5 in fiscal 2014, $72.0 in fiscal 2015, $66.8 
in fiscal 2016, and $478.2 thereafter.
	 The Company paid $0.0, $0.4 and $0.0 in 2011, 2010 and 
2009 for certain exclusive and non-exclusive licensing rights  
to diagnostic testing technology. These amounts are being 
amortized over the life of the licensing agreements.
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	 As of December 31, 2011, the Ontario operation has $722.2 
of value assigned to the partnership’s indefinite lived Canadian 
licenses to conduct diagnostic testing services in the province.

9. �Accrued Expenses and Other

							       December 31,		  December 31,
							       2011		  2010
Employee compensation and benefits			   $	207.5			   $	188.0
Self-insurance reserves						      72.9				    70.8
Accrued taxes payable						      35.8				    13.8
Royalty and license fees payable					     14.3				    12.6
Restructuring reserves						      16.0				    11.4
Acquisition related reserves					     3.3				    18.4
Interest payable						      13.3				    13.0
Other								       41.0				    24.9

 									         $	404.1			   $	352.9

10. �Other Liabilities
							       December 31,		  December 31,
							       2011		  2010
Post-retirement benefit obligation				    $	 52.7			   $	 42.0
Defined benefit plan obligation					     102.7				    52.8
Restructuring reserves						      15.0				    6.4
Self-insurance reserves						      12.1	 			   12.1
Interest rate swap liability						      –				    2.4
Acquisition related reserves					     0.6				    0.6
Deferred revenue						      5.9				    7.2
Other								       38.3				    27.9

 									         $	227.3			   $	151.4

11. Debt
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt 
at December 31, 2011 and 2010 consisted of the following:

							       December 31,		 December 31,
							       2011		  2010
Zero-coupon convertible subordinated notes		  $	135.5			   $	286.7
Term loan, current						      –				    75.0

Total short-term borrowings and  
	 current portion of long-term debt				    $135.5				   $	361.7

	 Long-term debt at December 31, 2011 and 2010 consisted 
of the following:

							       December 31,		 December 31,
							       2011		  2010
Revolving credit facility					     $	 560.0			   $	 –
Senior notes due 2013					     	 350.5				    350.9
Senior notes due 2015						      250.0				    250.0
Senior notes due 2016						      325.0				    325.0
Senior notes due 2020						      600.0				    600.0
Term loan, non-current						      –				    300.0
Other long-term debt						      –				    0.8

Total long-term debt					     $	2,085.5			   $	1,826.7

Credit Facilities
On December 21, 2011, the Company entered into a Credit 
Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) providing for a five-year 
$1,000.0 senior unsecured revolving credit facility (the “Revolving 
Credit Facility”) with Bank of America, N.A., acting as Adminis-
trative Agent, Barclays Capital as Syndication Agent, and a 
group of financial institutions as lending parties. As part of the 
new revolving credit facility, the Company repaid all of the  
outstanding principal balances of $318.8 on its existing term 
loan facility and $235.0 on its existing revolving credit facility.  
In conjunction with the repayment and cancellation of its old 
credit facility, the Company recorded approximately $1.0 of 
remaining unamortized debt costs as interest expense in the 
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations for the 
year ended December 31, 2011. The balances outstanding  
on the Company’s Revolving Credit Facility at December 31, 
2011 and December 31, 2010 were $560.0 and $0.0,  
respectively. The Revolving Credit Facility bears interest at  
varying rates based upon a base rate or LIBOR plus (in each 
case) a percentage based on the Company’s debt rating with 
Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s Rating Services. 
	 The Revolving Credit Facility is available for general corporate 
purposes, including working capital, capital expenditures, 
acquisitions, funding of share repurchases and other restricted 
payments permitted under the Credit Agreement. The Credit 
Agreement also contains limitations on aggregate subsidiary 
indebtedness and a debt covenant that requires that the Com-
pany maintain on the last day of any period of four consecutive 
fiscal quarters, in each case taken as one accounting period,  
a ratio of total debt to consolidated EBITDA (Earnings Before 
Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, and Amortization) of not more 
than 3.0 to 1.0. The Company was in compliance with all  
covenants in the Credit Agreement at December 31, 2011.
	 As of December 31, 2011, the effective interest rate on the 
Revolving Credit Facility was 1.26%.
	 The interest rate swap agreement to hedge variable interest 
rate risk on the Company’s variable interest rate term loan 
expired on March 31, 2011. On a quarterly basis under the 
swap, the Company paid a fixed rate of interest (2.92%) and 
received a variable rate of interest based on the three-month 
LIBOR rate on an amortizing notional amount of indebtedness 
equivalent to the term loan balance outstanding. The swap was 
designated as a cash flow hedge. Accordingly, the Company 
recognized the fair value of the swap in the condensed consoli-
dated balance sheets and any changes in the fair value were 
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recorded as adjustments to accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss), net of tax. The fair value of the interest rate swap 
agreement was the estimated amount that the Company 
would have paid or received to terminate the swap agreement 
at the reporting date. The fair value of the swap was a liability 
of $2.4 at December 31, 2010 and was included in other  
liabilities in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Zero-Coupon Convertible Subordinated Notes
The Company had $164.1 and $354.6 aggregate principal 
amount at maturity of zero-coupon convertible subordinated 
notes (the “notes”) due 2021 outstanding at December 31, 
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Senior Notes
On October 28, 2010, in conjunction with the acquisition of 
Genzyme Genetics, the Company entered into a $925.0 Bridge 
Term Loan Credit Agreement, among the Company, the lenders 
named therein and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent (the 
“Bridge Facility”). The Company replaced and terminated the 
Bridge Facility in November 2010 by making an offering in the 
debt capital markets. On November 19, 2010, the Company 
sold $925.0 in debt securities, consisting of $325.0 aggregate 
principal amount of 3.125% Senior Notes due May 15, 2016 and 
$600.0 aggregate principal amount of 4.625% Senior Notes due 
November 15, 2020. Beginning on May 15, 2011, interest on 
the Senior Notes due 2016 and 2020 is payable semi-annually 
on May 15, and November 15. On December 1, 2010, the 
acquisition of Genzyme Genetics was funded by the net 
proceeds from the issuance of these Notes ($915.4) and with 
cash on hand.
	T he Senior Notes due January 31, 2013 bear interest at the 
rate of 5.5% per annum from February 1, 2003, payable semi-
annually on February 1 and August 1. The Senior Notes due 
2015 bear interest at the rate of 5.625% per annum from 
December 14, 2005, payable semi-annually on June 15 and 
December 15.

12. �Preferred Stock and Common  
Shareholders’ Equity

The Company is authorized to issue up to 265.0 shares of 
common stock, par value $0.10 per share. The Company’s 
treasury shares are recorded at aggregate cost. Common 
shares issued and outstanding are summarized in the  
following table:

								        2011	 2010
Issued									          120.0		   124.5
In treasury								         (22.2)	 	  (22.1)

Outstanding								         97.8		   102.4

	T he Company is authorized to issue up to 30.0 shares of 
preferred stock, par value $0.10 per share. There were no pre-
ferred shares outstanding as of December 31, 2011 and 2010.

	T he changes in common shares issued and held in treasury 
are summarized below:

Common shares issued

							       2011	 2010	 2009
Common stock issued at January 1					    124.5		  127.4		  130.3
Common stock issued under employee stock plans	 1.9		  1.6		  0.6
Common stock issued upon conversion of zero-coupon 
	 subordinated notes						      1.0		  –		  0.4
Retirement of common stock					     (7.4)	 	 (4.5)		  (3.9)

Common stock issued at December 31			   120.0		  124.5		  127.4

Common shares held in treasury

							       2011	 2010	 2009
Common shares held in treasury at January 1			   22.1		  22.1		  22.1
Surrender of restricted stock and performance  
	 share awards						      0.1		  –		  –

Common shares held in treasury at December 31		  22.2		  22.1		  22.1

Share Repurchase Program
During fiscal 2011, the Company purchased 7.4 shares of its 
common stock at a total cost of $643.9. As of December 31, 
2011, the Company had outstanding authorization from the 
Board of Directors to purchase $84.4 of Company common 
stock. On February 10, 2012, the Company announced the 
Board of Directors authorized the purchase of $500.0 of  
additional shares of the Company’s common stock.  

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Earnings
The components of accumulated other comprehensive earnings 
are as follows: 

					     Foreign	 Net	 Interest	 Accumulated
					     Currency	 Benefit	 Rate	 Other
					     Translation	 Plan	 Swap	 Comprehensive
					     Adjustments	 Adjustments	 Adjustments	 Earnings
Balance at  
	 December 31, 2008	 $	 68.6	 $	(77.1)	 $	 (8.2)	 $	 (16.7)
		 Current year adjustments		  93.3		  31.5		  2.9		  127.7
		  Tax effect of adjustments		  (36.1)		  (12.2)		  (1.2)		  (49.5)

Balance at  
	 December 31, 2009		  125.8		  (57.8)		  (6.5)		  61.5
		 Current year adjustments		  41.3		  (8.3)		  8.2		  41.2
		  Tax effect of adjustments		  (14.3)		  3.2		  (3.1)		  (14.2)

Balance at  
	 December 31, 2010		  152.8		  (62.9)		  (1.4)		  88.5
		 Current year adjustments		  (13.2)		  (57.5)		  2.4		  (68.3)
		  Tax effect of adjustments		  3.9		  22.4		  (1.0)		  25.3

Balance at  
	 December 31, 2011	 $	143.5	 $	(98.0)	 $	 –	 $	 45.5
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13. �Income Taxes
The sources of income before taxes, classified between 
domestic and foreign entities are as follows:

Pre-tax income

							       2011	 2010	 2009
Domestic					     $	834.0	 $	876.1	 $	848.0
Foreign	  						       32.1		  39.5		  36.6

Total pre-tax income					     $	866.1	 $	915.6	 $	884.6

	T he provisions for income taxes in the accompanying  
consolidated statements of operations consist of the following:

	 Years Ended December 31,

							       2011	 2010	 2009
Current:	
	 Federal					     $	269.7	 $	269.9	 $	266.2
	 State							      54.3		  50.4		  41.0
	 Foreign						      6.8		  10.8		  12.2

									         $	330.8	 $	331.1	 $319.4

Deferred:
	 Federal					     $	 5.0	 $	 12.2	 $	 25.3
	 State							      (4.4)		  (0.5)		  (15.5)
	 Foreign						      1.6		  1.2		  (0.2)

										          2.2		  12.9		  9.6

									         $	333.0	 $	344.0	 $	329.0

	A  portion of the tax benefit associated with option exercises 
from stock plans reducing taxes currently payable are recorded 
through additional paid-in capital. The benefits recorded through 
additional paid-in capital are approximately $11.0, $7.8 and 
$1.1 in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
	T he effective tax rates on earnings before income taxes are 
reconciled to statutory federal income tax rates as follows:

	 Years Ended December 31,

							       2011	 2010	 2009
Statutory federal rate						      35.0%		 35.0%		 35.0%
State and local income taxes,  
	 net of federal income tax effect					     3.7		  3.5		  1.9
Other	 							       (0.3)		  (0.9)		  0.3

Effective rate	  					     38.4%		 37.6%		 37.2%

	T he effective tax rate for 2011 was negatively impacted by 
a decrease in unrecognized income tax benefits compared to 
2010, the divestiture of certain Orchid paternity contracts, 
and foreign losses not tax effected. The effective tax rate for 
2010 was favorably impacted by a benefit relating to the net 
decrease in unrecognized income tax benefits. In 2009, the 
Company recorded favorable adjustments of $21.5 to its tax 

provision relating to the resolution of certain state tax issues 
under audit, as well as the realization of foreign tax credits.
	T he tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to 
significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred 
tax liabilities are as follows:

							       December 31,		 December 31,
							       2011		  2010
Deferred tax assets:	  		   
	 Accounts receivable					     $	 27.1			   $	 2.6
	 Employee compensation and benefits			   123.9				    96.3
	 Self insurance reserves						      20.7				    27.1
	 Postretirement benefit obligation					     20.5				    16.3
	 Acquisition and restructuring reserves			   18.8				    10.2
	 Tax loss carryforwards						      68.5				    50.1

 										          279.5				    202.6
		  Less: valuation allowance					     (14.4)				    (11.4)

		  Net deferred tax assets				    $	265.1			   $	 191.2

Deferred tax liabilities:
	 Deferred earnings					     $	 (25.3)			   $	 (18.0)
	 Intangible assets						      (373.7)				    (343.8)
	 Property, plant and equipment					     (71.5)				    (63.3)
	 Zero-coupon subordinated notes					     (105.5)				    (145.2)
	 Currency translation adjustment					     (90.1)				    (94.3)
	 Other							      (3.6)				    (5.1)

 		  Total gross deferred tax liabilities			   $	(669.7)			   $	(669.7)

Net deferred tax liabilities					     $	(404.6)			   $	(478.5)

	T he Company has state tax loss carryovers of approximately 
$0.3, which expire in 2011 through 2024. The state tax loss 
carryovers have a full valuation allowance. The Company has 
foreign tax loss carryovers of $10.8 with a full valuation allow-
ance. Most of the foreign losses have an indefinite carryover.  
In addition, the Company has federal tax loss carryovers of 
approximately $57.4 expiring periodically through 2030. The 
utilization of the tax loss carryovers is limited due to change of 
ownership rules. However, at this time the Company expects  
to fully utilize substantially all federal tax loss carryovers.
	T he gross unrecognized income tax benefits were $52.7 
and $53.6 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. It is  
anticipated that the amount of the unrecognized income tax 
benefits will change within the next twelve months; however, 
these changes are not expected to have a significant impact  
on the results of operations, cash flows or the financial position 
of the Company.
	T he Company recognizes interest and penalties related to 
unrecognized income tax benefits in income tax expense. 
Accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions 
totaled $10.8 and $12.2 as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, 
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respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2011,  
2010 and 2009, the Company recognized $3.5, $4.5 and  
$5.4, respectively, in interest and penalties expense, which  
was offset by a benefit of $4.9, $5.4 and $4.9, respectively.
	 The following table shows a reconciliation of the unrecog-
nized income tax benefits from uncertain tax positions for the 
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009:

							       2011	 2010	 2009
Balance as of January 1					     $	 53.6	 $	59.0	 $	72.5
Increase in reserve for tax positions  
	 taken in the current year					     8.6		  9.1		  10.9
Increase (decrease) in reserve for  
	 tax positions taken in a prior period				    –		  (0.6)		  (4.2)
Decrease in reserve as a result of  
	 settlements reached with tax authorities			   (0.2)		  (1.3)		 (15.7)
Decrease in reserve as a result of lapses  
	 in the statute of limitations					     (9.3)		  (12.6)		  (4.5)

Balance as of December 31				    $	 52.7	 $	53.6	 $	59.0

	 As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, $53.3 and $54.6, 
respectively, is the approximate amount of unrecognized 
income tax benefits that, if recognized, would favorably affect 
the effective income tax rate in any future periods.
	 The Company has substantially concluded all U.S. federal 
income tax matters for years through 2007. Substantially all 
material state and local, and foreign income tax matters have 
been concluded through 2006 and 2001, respectively.
	 The Company has various state income tax examinations 
ongoing throughout the year. Canada Revenue Agency is  
conducting an audit of the 2009 and 2010 Canadian income 
tax return. The Company believes adequate provisions have 
been recorded related to all open tax years.
 	 The Company provided for taxes on substantially all  
undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries.

14. �Stock Compensation Plans

Stock Incentive Plans
There are currently 23.8 shares authorized for issuance under 
the 2008 Stock Incentive Plan and the 2000 Stock Incentive 
Plan. Each of these plans was approved by shareholders. At 
December 31, 2011, there were 1.7 additional shares available 
for grant under the Company’s stock option plans.

Stock Options
The following table summarizes grants of non-qualified  
options made by the Company to officers, key employees,  
and non-employee directors under all plans. Stock options  
are generally granted at an exercise price equal to or greater 
than the fair market price per share on the date of grant. Also, 
for each grant, options vest ratably over a period of three years 
on the anniversaries of the grant date, subject to their earlier 
expiration or termination.

						      Weighted-	 Weighted-
						      Average	 Average
						      Exercise	 Remaining	 Aggregate
					     Number of	 Price	 Contractual	 Intrinsic
					     Options	 per Option	 Term	 Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2010		  6.6	 $	67.84
	 Granted		  1.5		  90.86
	 Exercised		  (1.6)		  65.67
	 Cancelled		  (0.2)		  77.06

Outstanding at December 31, 2011		  6.3	 $	73.66		  7.2	 $	 84.9

Vested and expected to vest 
	 at December 31, 2011		  6.2	 $	73.52		  7.2	 $	 84.5
Exercisable at December 31, 2011		  3.2	 $	69.44		  6.0	 $	 53.1

	  The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents 
the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference between the 
Company’s closing stock price on the last trading day of 2011 
and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-
money options) that would have been received by the option 
holders had all option holders exercised their options on 
December 31, 2011. The amount of intrinsic value will change 
based on the fair market value of the Company’s stock.
	 Cash received by the Company from option exercises, the 
actual tax benefit realized for the tax deductions and the aggre-
gate intrinsic value of options exercised from option exercises 
under all share-based payment arrangements during the years 
ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 were as follows:

							       2011	 2010	 2009
Cash received by the Company			   $	106.1	 $	73.7	 $	14.3
Tax benefits realized				    $	 17.8	 $	13.2	 $	 2.7
Aggregate intrinsic value				    $	 45.5	 $	33.4	 $	 7.0
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	 The following table summarizes information concerning currently outstanding and exercisable options.

	 Options Outstanding	 Options Exercisable
	 Weighted-Average	 Weighted-
		  Remaining	 Average		  Average
Range of	 Number	 Contractual	 Exercise	 Number	 Exercise
Exercise Prices	 Outstanding	 Life	 Price	 Exercisable	 Price

$  6.80 – 59.37	 0.5	 3.3	 $50.89	 0.5	 $50.89
$59.38 – 67.60	 1.2	 7.1	 $60.24	 0.6	 $60.17
$67.61 – 75.63	 2.4	 7.4	 $72.44	 1.4	 $74.10
$75.64 – 98.49	 2.2	 7.8	 $87.17	 0.7	 $80.29

 				   6.3	 7.2	 $73.66	 3.2	 $69.44

 

Laboratory Corporation of America

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

	 The following table shows the weighted average grant-date 
fair values of options and the weighted average assumptions 
that the Company used to develop the fair value estimates:

							       2011	 2010	 2009
Fair value per option					     $	17.06	 $	14.12	 $	10.85
Valuation assumptions
	 Weighted average expected life (in years)			   3.4		  3.1		  3.0
	 Risk free interest rate						      1.0%		  1.5%		  1.1%
	 Expected volatility						      0.2		  0.3		  0.2
	 Expected dividend yield						      –		  –		  –

	 The Black Scholes model incorporates assumptions to value 
stock-based awards. The risk-free interest rate for periods 
within the contractual life of the option is based on a zero-  
coupon U.S. government instrument over the contractual term 
of the equity instrument. Expected volatility of the Company’s 
stock is based on historical volatility of the Company’s stock. 
The Company uses historical data to calculate the expected  
life of the option. Groups of employees and non-employee 
directors that have similar exercise behavior with regard to 
option exercise timing and forfeiture rates are considered  
separately for valuation purposes. For 2011, 2010 and 2009, 
expense related to the Company’s stock option plan totaled 
$24.9, $20.7 and $18.7, respectively.

Restricted Stock and Performance Shares
The Company grants restricted stock and performance shares 
(“nonvested shares”) to officers, key employees, and non-
employee directors under all plans. Restricted stock becomes 
vested annually in equal one third increments beginning on the 
first anniversary of the grant. A performance share grant in 
2009 represents a three year award opportunity for the period 
2009-2011 and becomes vested in the first quarter of 2012. A 
performance share grant in 2010 represents a three year award 
opportunity for the period of 2010-2012 and becomes vested 
in the first quarter of 2013. A performance share grant in 2011 
represents a three year award opportunity for the period of 
2011-2013 and becomes vested in the first quarter of 2014. 
Performance share awards are subject to certain earnings per 
share and revenue targets, the achievement of which may 
increase or decrease the number of shares which the grantee 
receives upon vesting. The unearned restricted stock and  
performance share compensation is being amortized to expense 
over the applicable vesting periods. For 2011, 2010 and 2009, 
total restricted stock and performance share compensation 
expense was $21.3, $16.1 and $13.6, respectively.
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	 The following table shows a summary of nonvested shares 
for the year ended December 31, 2011:

									         Weighted-
									         Average
							       Number of		  Grant Date
							       Shares		  Fair Value
Nonvested at January 1, 2011					     0.6			   $	68.26
	 Granted						      0.2				    90.84
	 Vested						      (0.2)				    73.02

Nonvested at December 31, 2011					     0.6				    74.39

	 As of December 31, 2011, there was $19.6 of total unrecog-
nized compensation cost related to nonvested restricted stock 
and performance share-based compensation arrangements 
granted under the stock incentive plans. That cost is expected  
to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.6 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The Company has an employee stock purchase plan, begun in 
1997 and amended in 1999, 2004 and 2008, with 4.5 shares 
of common stock authorized for issuance. The plan permits 
substantially all employees to purchase a limited number 
of shares of Company stock at 85% of market value. The 
Company issues shares to participating employees semi-
annually in January and July of each year. Approximately  
0.2 shares were purchased by eligible employees in 2011, 
2010 and 2009, respectively. For 2011, 2010 and 2009, 
expense related to the Company’s employee stock purchase 
plan was $2.7, $2.0 and $3.2, respectively.
	 The Company uses the Black-Scholes model to calculate 
the fair value of the employee’s purchase right. The fair value 
of the employee’s purchase right and the assumptions used  
in its calculation are as follows:
 

							       2011	 2010	 2009
Fair value of the employee’s purchase right		  $	15.58	 $	15.39	 $	14.28
Valuation assumptions
	 Risk free interest rate						      0.1%		  0.2%		  0.2%
	 Expected volatility						      0.2		  0.2		  0.2
	 Expected dividend yield						      –		  –		  –

15. �Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
The Company is involved in a number of judicial, regulatory, 
and arbitration proceedings (including those described below) 
concerning matters arising in connection with the conduct of 
the Company’s business activities. Many of these proceedings 
are at preliminary stages, and many of these cases seek an 
indeterminate amount of damages. 
	 The Company records an aggregate legal reserve, which is 
determined using actuarial calculations around historical loss 
rates and assessment of trends experienced in settlements and 
defense costs. In accordance with ASC 450 “Contingencies”, 
the Company establishes reserves for judicial, regulatory, and 
arbitration matters outside the aggregate legal reserve if and 
when those matters present loss contingencies that are both 
probable and estimable and would exceed the aggregate legal 
reserve. When loss contingencies are not both probable and 
estimable, the Company does not establish separate reserves. 
	 The Company is unable to estimate a range of reasonably 
possible loss for cases described below in which damages 
either have not been specified or, in the Company’s judgment, 
are unsupported and/or exaggerated and (i) the proceedings 
are in early stages; (ii) there is uncertainty as to the outcome  
of pending appeals or motions; (iii) there are significant factual 
issues to be resolved; and/or (iv) there are novel legal issues  
to be presented. For these cases, however, the Company 
does not believe, based on currently available information,  
that the outcomes of these proceedings will have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, though 
the outcomes could be material to the Company’s operating 
results for any particular period, depending, in part, upon the 
operating results for such period.
	 A subsidiary of the Company, DIANON Systems, Inc. 
(“DIANON”), is the appellant in a wrongful termination lawsuit 
originally filed by G. Berry Schumann in Superior Court in the 
State of Connecticut. After a jury trial, the state court entered 
judgment against DIANON, with total damages, attorney’s 
fees, and pre-judgment interest payable by DIANON, of 
approximately $10.0, plus post-judgment interest that continues 
to accrue since the entry of judgment. DIANON has disputed 
liability and has contested the case vigorously on appeal. 
DIANON filed a notice of appeal in December 2009, and the 
case was transferred to the Connecticut Supreme Court. The 
Court heard oral argument on May 18, 2011 and the parties 
await the Court’s decision on DIANON’s appeal. 
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	 As previously reported, the Company reached a settlement 
in the previously disclosed lawsuit, California ex rel. Hunter 
Laboratories, LLC et al. v. Quest Diagnostics Incorporated,  
et al., to avoid the uncertainty and costs associated with  
prolonged litigation. The original lawsuit was brought against 
the Company and several other major laboratories operating in 
California and alleged that the defendants improperly billed the 
state Medicaid program and, therefore, violated the California 
False Claims Act. The complaint against the Company sought 
a refund of alleged overpayments made to the Company from 
November 7, 1995 through November 2009, plus simple  
interest of 7% per year, calculated as of the filing date to total 
$97.5. In addition, the suit sought continuing damages past 
November 2009, plus treble damages, civil penalties of $0.01 
per each alleged false claim, recovery of costs, attorney’s fees, 
and legal expenses, and pre- and post-judgment interest.  
Pursuant to the executed settlement agreement, the Company 
recorded a litigation settlement expense of $34.5 (net of a  
previously recorded reserve of $15.0) in the second quarter  
of 2011. The Company also agreed to certain reporting  
obligations regarding its pricing for a limited time period and, at 
the option of the Company in lieu of such reporting obligations, 
to provide Medi-Cal with a discount from November 1, 2011 
through October 31, 2012. The Medi-Cal discount is not 
expected to have a material impact on the Company’s  
consolidated revenues or results of operations.
	 As previously reported, the Company responded to an 
October 2007 subpoena from the United States Office  
Department of Health & Human Services of Inspector General’s 
regional office in New York. On August 17, 2011, the Southern 
District of New York unsealed a False Claims Act lawsuit, 
United States of America ex rel. NPT Associates v. Laboratory 
Corporation of America Holdings, which alleges that the 
Company offered UnitedHealthcare kickbacks in the form of 
discounts in return for Medicare business. The lawsuit seeks 
actual and treble damages and civil penalties for each alleged 
false claim, as well as recovery of costs, attorney’s fees, and legal 
expenses. The United States government has not intervened in 
the lawsuit. The Company will vigorously defend the lawsuit.
	 In addition, the Company has received three other  
subpoenas since 2007 related to Medicaid billing. In June 
2010, the Company received a subpoena from the State of 
Florida Office of the Attorney General requesting documents 
related to its billing to Florida Medicaid. In February 2009, the 

Company received a subpoena from the Commonwealth of 
Virginia Office of the Attorney General seeking documents 
related to the Company’s billing for state Medicaid. In October 
2009, the Company received a subpoena from the State of 
Michigan Department of Attorney General seeking documents 
related to its billing to Michigan Medicaid. The Company also 
responded to a September 2009 subpoena from the United 
States Department of Health & Human Services Office of 
Inspector General’s regional office in Massachusetts regarding 
certain of its billing practices. The Company is cooperating 
with these requests.
	 In April 2011, the Company and Orchid Cellmark Inc. 
(“Orchid”) announced that they had entered into a definitive 
agreement and plan of merger under which the Company 
would acquire all of the outstanding shares of Orchid in a cash 
tender offer. The Company received a request for additional 
information (commonly referred to as a “Second Request”) 
under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 
1976, as amended (“HSR Act”) from the Federal Trade 
Commission (“FTC”) in connection with the proposed merger 
with Orchid. On December 8, 2011, the Company announced 
that it had reached an agreement with the FTC that allowed 
the Company to complete its acquisition of Orchid which closed 
on December 15, 2011. Under the terms of the proposed 
consent decree that was accepted by the FTC for public 
comment, the Company is required to divest certain assets 
of Orchid’s U.S. government paternity business. On 
December 16, 2011, the Company sold those assets to 
DNA Diagnostics Center (DDC), a privately held provider of 
DNA paternity testing. Subsequent to the closing of the 
Orchid transaction, the Company has received three notices of 
demand for appraisal rights for shares.
	 On April 11, 2011, a putative class action lawsuit, Ballard v. 
Orchid Cellmark, Inc., et al., was filed in the Superior Court of 
New Jersey Chancery Division, Mercer County against Orchid, 
individual members of Orchid’s Board of Directors, the Company, 
and one of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries. This 
action challenged the Orchid acquisition on grounds of alleged 
breaches of fiduciary duty and/or other violations of state law. 
Two similar putative class action lawsuits, Kletzel v. Orchid 
Cellmark, Inc., et al. and Greenberg v. Orchid Cellmark Inc., et al., 
were subsequently filed in the same court. On August 15, 2011, 
all three actions were voluntarily dismissed. 
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	 On May 2, 2011, a putative class action lawsuit, Tsatsis v. 
Orchid Cellmark, Inc., et al. was filed in the United States  
District Court for the District of New Jersey against Orchid, 
individual members of Orchid’s Board of Directors, the  
Company, and a subsidiary of the Company. This federal  
court action challenged the Orchid acquisition on grounds of 
alleged breaches of fiduciary duty and violations of the federal 
securities laws. On May 12, 2011, the plaintiff filed a motion  
for preliminary injunction seeking to enjoin the transaction.  
On May 13, 2011, the Court denied the plaintiff’s request  
for an expedited hearing. On June 27, 2011, the action was 
voluntarily dismissed.
	 Three similar shareholder class actions, Silverberg v. Bologna, 
et al., Nannetti v. Bologna, and Locke v. Orchid Cellmark, Inc., 
et al., were filed in the Court of Chancery of the State of  
Delaware and subsequently consolidated into one action,  
In re Orchid Cellmark Shareholder Litig. On May 4, 2011, the 
plaintiffs in the consolidated action filed a motion for preliminary 
injunction seeking to enjoin the transaction. On May 12, 2011, 
the Court of Chancery denied the motion for preliminary 
injunction, and plaintiffs’ motion for an expedited appeal was 
subsequently denied on May 16, 2011. Since that time, there 
has been no substantive activity in the Delaware litigation. 
	 In October 2011, a putative stockholder of the Company 
made a letter demand through his counsel for inspection of 
documents related to policies and procedures concerning the 
Company’s Board of Directors’ oversight and monitoring of the 
Company’s billing and claim submission process. The letter 
also seeks documents prepared for or by the Board regarding 
allegations from the California ex rel. Hunter Laboratories, 
LLC et al. v. Quest Diagnostics Incorporated, et al., lawsuit 
and documents reviewed and relied upon by the Board in  
connection with the settlement of that lawsuit. The Company  
is responding to the request pursuant to Delaware law. 
	 On November 18, 2011, the Company received a letter 
from United States Senators Baucus and Grassley requesting 
information regarding the Company’s relationships with its 
largest managed care customers. The letter requests  
information about the Company’s contracts and financial  
data regarding its managed care customers. The Company  
is cooperating with the request.

	 The Company is a defendant in two putative class actions 
related to overtime pay. In September 2011, a putative class 
action, Peggy Bryant v. Laboratory Corporation of America 
Holdings, was filed against the Company in the United States 
District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia, alleging 
on behalf of employees similarly situated that the Company 
violated the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act and applicable 
state wage laws by failing to pay overtime. The complaint seeks 
monetary damages, liquidated damages equal to the alleged 
amount owed, costs, injunctive relief, and attorney’s fees. In 
December 2011, a putative class action, Debra Rivera v.  
Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings, was filed 
against the Company in the United States District Court for  
the Middle District of Florida alleging on behalf of employees 
similarly situated that the Company violated the Federal Fair 
Labor Standards Act by failing to pay overtime. The complaint 
seeks monetary damages, liquidated damages equal to the 
alleged amount owed, costs, and attorney’s fees. The Company 
intends to vigorously contest both cases. 
	 The Company is involved from time to time in various claims 
and legal actions, including arbitrations, class actions, and other 
litigation, arising in the ordinary course of business. Some of 
these actions involve claims that are substantial in amount. These 
matters include, but are not limited to, intellectual property  
disputes, professional liability, employee related matters, and 
inquiries, including subpoenas and other civil investigative 
demands, from governmental agencies and Medicare or  
Medicaid payers and managed care payers reviewing billing 
practices or requesting comment on allegations of billing  
irregularities that are brought to their attention through billing 
audits or third parties. The Company receives civil investigative 
demands or other inquiries from various governmental bodies 
in the ordinary course of its business. Such inquiries can  
relate to the Company or other healthcare providers. The 
Company works cooperatively to respond to appropriate 
requests for information.
	 The Company is also named from time to time in suits 
brought under the qui tam provisions of the False Claims Act 
and comparable state laws. These suits typically allege that 
the Company has made false statements and/or certifications 
in connection with claims for payment from federal or state 
health care programs. They may remain under seal (hence, 
unknown to the Company) for some time while the government 
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decides whether to intervene on behalf of the qui tam plaintiff. 
Such claims are an inevitable part of doing business in the 
health care field today.
	 The Company believes that it is in compliance in all material 
respects with all statutes, regulations and other requirements 
applicable to its clinical laboratory operations. The clinical  
laboratory testing industry is, however, subject to extensive 
regulation, and the courts have not interpreted many of  
these statutes and regulations. There can be no assurance 
therefore that those applicable statutes and regulations will  
not be interpreted or applied by a prosecutorial, regulatory or 
judicial authority in a manner that would adversely affect the 
Company. Potential sanctions for violation of these statutes 
and regulations include significant fines and the loss of various 
licenses, certificates and authorizations.
	 Under the Company’s present insurance programs,  
coverage is obtained for catastrophic exposure as well as 
those risks required to be insured by law or contract. The 
Company is responsible for the uninsured portion of losses 
related primarily to general, professional and vehicle liability, 
certain medical costs and workers’ compensation. The  
self-insured retentions are on a per occurrence basis without 
any aggregate annual limit. Provisions for losses expected 
under these programs are recorded based upon the  
Company’s estimates of the aggregated liability of claims 
incurred. At December 31, 2011, the Company had provided 
letters of credit aggregating approximately $37.4, primarily in  
connection with certain insurance programs. The Company’s 
availability under its Revolving Credit Facility is reduced by the 
amount of these letters of credit.
	 The Company leases various facilities and equipment under 
non-cancelable lease arrangements. Future minimum rental 
commitments for leases with non-cancelable terms of one 
year or more at December 31, 2011 are as follows:
 
									         Operating
2012											          $	161.4
2013												          134.5
2014												          102.7
2015												           63.3
2016												           42.9
Thereafter										          97.9

Total minimum lease payments									        602.7
Less:	
	 Amounts included in restructuring and acquisition related accruals			   (12.7)
	 Non-cancelable sub-lease income									        –

Total minimum operating lease payments						      $	590.0

 

	 Rental expense, which includes rent for real estate, equipment 
and automobiles under operating leases, amounted to $220.2, 
$202.1 and $182.9 for the years ended December 31, 2011, 
2010 and 2009, respectively.
	 At December 31, 2011, the Company was a guarantor on 
approximately $0.9 of equipment leases. These leases were 
entered into by a joint venture in which the Company owns  
a 50% interest and have a remaining term of approximately 
two years.

16. �Pension and Postretirement Plans

Pension Plans
In October 2009, the Company received approval from its 
Board of Directors to freeze any additional service-based  
credits for any years of service after December 31, 2009 on 
the defined benefit retirement plan (the “Company Plan”) and 
the nonqualified supplemental retirement plan (the “PEP”). 
Both plans have been closed to new participants. Employees 
participating in the Company Plan and the PEP no longer earn 
service-based credits, but continue to earn interest credits.  
In addition, effective January 1, 2010, all employees eligible 
for the defined contribution retirement plan (the “401K Plan”) 
receive a minimum 3% non-elective contribution (“NEC”)  
concurrent with each payroll period. The NEC replaces the 
Company match, which has been discontinued. Employees 
are not required to make a contribution to the 401K Plan to 
receive the NEC. The NEC is non-forfeitable and vests  
immediately. The 401K Plan also permits discretionary  
contributions by the Company of 1% to 3% of pay for eligible 
employees based on service.
	 The Company believes these changes to the Company 
Plan, the PEP and its 401K Plan align the Company’s retirement 
plan strategy with prevailing industry practices and reduce the 
impact of market volatility on the Company Plan. 
	 The Company’s 401K Plan covers substantially all  
employees. Prior to 2010, Company contributions to the  
plan were based on a percentage of employee contributions.  
In 2011 and 2010, the Company made non-elective and  
discretionary contributions to the plan. The cost of this plan 
was $44.3, $40.6 and $15.2 in 2011, 2010 and 2009,  
respectively. The increase in 401K costs and contributions  
was due to the non-elective and discretionary contributions 
made by the Company in 2011 and 2010.
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	 In addition, the Company Plan covers substantially all 
employees hired prior to December 31, 2009. The benefits  
to be paid under the Company Plan are based on years of 
credited service through December 31, 2009, interest credits 
and average compensation. The Company’s policy is to fund 
the Company Plan with at least the minimum amount required 
by applicable regulations. The Company made contributions 
to the Company Plan of $0.0, $0.0 and $54.8 in 2011, 2010 
and 2009, respectively.
	 The PEP covers the Company’s senior management  
group. Prior to 2010, the PEP provided for the payment of  
the difference, if any, between the amount of any maximum 
limitation on annual benefit payments under the Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 and the annual  
benefit that would be payable under the Company Plan but  
for such limitation. Effective January 1, 2010, employees  
participating in the PEP no longer earn service-based credits. 
The PEP is an unfunded plan.
	 As a result of the changes to the Company Plan and  
PEP which were adopted in the fourth quarter of 2009, the 
Company recognized a net curtailment charge of $2.8 due to 
remeasurement of the PEP obligation at December 31, 2009 
and the acceleration of unrecognized prior service for that plan.
	 Projected pension expense for the Company Plan and the 
PEP is expected to increase from $8.6 in 2011 to $12.2 in 
2012. The Company plans to make contributions of $14.6 to 
the Company Plan during 2012.
	 The effect on operations for both the Company Plan and 
the PEP are summarized as follows:
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The weighted average expected long-term rate of return for 
the Company Plan’s assets is as follows:

									         Weighted-
									         Average
									         Expected
							       Target		 Long-Term Rate
							       Allocation		  of Return
Equity securities						      50.0%			   4.5%
Fixed income securities						      45.0%			   2.3%
Other assets						      5.0%			   0.5%

	 The fair values of the Company Plan’s assets at December 31, 
2011 and 2010, by asset category are as follows:

					     Fair Value	 Fair Value Measurements as of
					     as of	 December 31, 2011
					     December 31,	 Using Fair Value Hierarchy
Asset Category	 2011	 Level 1	 Level 2	 Level 3
Cash			   $	 3.7	 $	3.7	 $	 –	 $	–
Equity securities:
	 U.S. large cap – blend(a)		  58.6		  –		  58.6	 	 –
	 U.S. mid cap – blend(b)		  21.9		  –		  21.9	 	 –
	 U.S. small cap – blend(c) 		  7.2		  –		  7.2	 	 –
	 International – developed		  26.9		  –		  26.9		  –
	 International – emerging		  6.1		  –		  6.1		  –
Commodities index(d)		  10.2		  –		  10.2		  –
Fixed income securities:
	 U.S. fixed income(e)		  109.9		  –		  109.9		  –

	 Total fair value of the  
		  Company Plan’s assets	 $	244.5	 $	3.7	 $	240.8	 $	–

					     Fair Value	 Fair Value Measurements as of
					     as of	 December 31, 2010
					     December 31,	 Using Fair Value Hierarchy
Asset Category	 2010	 Level 1	 Level 2	 Level 3
Cash			   $	 2.3	 $	 2.3	 $	 –	 $	–
Equity securities:
	 U.S. large cap – blend(a)		  62.7		  –		  62.7		  –
	 U.S. mid cap – blend(b)		  26.7		  –		  26.7		  –
	 U.S. small cap – blend(c)		  9.8		  –		  9.8		  –
	 International – developed		  37.5		  –		  37.5		  –
	 International – emerging		  8.2		  –		  8.2		  –
Commodities index(d)		  15.0		  –		  15.0		  –
Fixed income securities:
	 U.S. fixed income(e)		  102.2		  –		  102.2		  –

	 Total fair value of the  
		  Company Plan’s assets	 $	264.4	 $	 2.3	 $	262.1	 $	–

(a)  �This category represents an equity index fund not actively managed that tracks the S&P 500.

(b)  �This category represents an equity index fund not actively managed that tracks the S&P mid-cap 400.

(c)  �This category represents an equity index fund not actively managed that tracks the Russell 2000.

(d)  �This category represents a commodities index fund not actively managed that tracks the  
Dow Jones – UBS Commodity Index.

(e)  �This category primarily represents a bond index fund not actively managed that tracks the 
Barclays Capital U.S. Aggregate Index.

	 The following assumed benefit payments under the Company 
Plan and PEP, which were used in the calculation of projected 
benefit obligations, are expected to be paid as follows:

2012	  										         $	 23.8
2013												           23.2
2014												           22.9
2015												           23.2
2016												           23.6
Years 2017-2021										         119.3

Post-retirement Medical Plan
The Company assumed obligations under a subsidiary’s post-
retirement medical plan. Coverage under this plan is restricted 
to a limited number of existing employees of the subsidiary. 
This plan is unfunded and the Company’s policy is to fund 
benefits as claims are incurred. The effect on operations of the 
post-retirement medical plan is shown in the following table:

	 Year ended December 31,

							       2011	 2010	 2009
Service cost for benefits earned				    $	0.3	 $	0.3	 $	 0.3
Interest cost on benefit obligation					     2.2		  2.3		  2.3
Net amortization and deferral				    	 (0.2)		  (0.9)		  (1.7)

	 Post-retirement medical plan costs			   $	2.3	 $	1.7	 $	 0.9

	 Amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive 
earnings consist of unamortized net gain of $5.6. The accumu-
lated other comprehensive earnings that are expected to be 
recognized as components of the post-retirement medical plan 
costs during 2012 are $0.0 related to amortization of net gain.
	 A summary of the changes in the accumulated post-retirement 
benefit obligation follows: 

								        2011	 2010
Balance at January 1							       $	42.0	 $	39.6
	 Service cost for benefits earned							       0.3		  0.3
	 Interest cost on benefit obligation							       2.2		  2.3
	 Participants contributions							       0.4		  0.4
	 Actuarial loss							       	 9.8	 	 0.8
	 Benefits paid							       	 (2.0)		  (1.4)

Balance at December 31							       $	52.7	 $	42.0

	 The weighted-average discount rates used in the calculation 
of the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation were 4.3% 
and 5.4% as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
The health care cost trend rate was assumed to be 7.0%  
and 7.5% as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively,  
declining gradually to 5.0% in the year 2017. The health care 
cost trend rate has a significant effect on the amounts reported. 
The impact of a percentage point change each year in the 
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Interest Rate Swap
The interest rate swap agreement to hedge variable interest 
rate risk on the Company’s variable interest rate term loan 
expired on March 31, 2011. On a quarterly basis under the 
swap, the Company paid a fixed rate of interest 2.92% and 
received a variable rate of interest based on the three-month 
LIBOR rate on an amortizing notional amount of indebtedness 
equivalent to the term loan balance outstanding. The swap 
was designated as a cash flow hedge. Accordingly, the  
Company recognized the fair value of the swap in the  
condensed consolidated balance sheets and any changes in 
the fair value were recorded as adjustments to accumulated 
other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax. The fair value of 
the interest rate swap agreement was the estimated amount 
that the Company would have paid or received to terminate 
the swap agreement at the reporting date. The fair value of  
the swap was a liability of $2.4 at December 31, 2010 and 
was included in other liabilities in the Company’s Consolidated 
Balance Sheets.

Embedded Derivatives Related to the Zero-Coupon 
Subordinated Notes
The Company’s zero-coupon subordinated notes contain the 
following two features that are considered to be embedded 
derivative instruments under authoritative guidance in  
connection with accounting for derivative instruments and 
hedging activities:

1)	� The Company will pay contingent cash interest on the 
zero-coupon subordinated notes after September 11, 
2006, if the average market price of the notes equals 
120% or more of the sum of the issue price, accrued  
original issue discount and contingent additional principal, 
if any, for a specified measurement period.

2)	� Holders may surrender zero-coupon subordinated notes 
for conversion during any period in which the rating 
assigned to the zero-coupon subordinated notes by  
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services is BB- or lower.

	 The Company believes these embedded derivatives had no 
fair value at December 31, 2011 and 2010. These embedded 
derivatives also had no impact on the consolidated statements 
of operations for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 
and 2009.

	 The following table summarizes the fair value and  
presentation in the consolidated balance sheets for derivatives 
designated as hedging instruments (interest rate swap liability 
derivative) as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively:

	 Fair Value as of
	 December 31,
Balance Sheet Location				    2011	 2010
Other liabilities							       $	 –	 $	 2.4

	 The following table summarizes the effect of the interest 
rate swap on other comprehensive income for the years 
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010:

								        2011	 2010
Effective portion of derivative gain						      $	2.4	 $	8.2

19. �Supplemental Cash Flow Information

	 Years Ended December 31,

							       2011	 2010	 2009
Supplemental schedule of cash flow information:
	 Cash paid during period for:
		  Interest					     $	 99.6	 $	 55.5	 $	 50.7
		  Income taxes, net of refunds	   				   309.4		  355.0		  304.1
Disclosure of non-cash financing and  
	 investing activities:
		  Surrender of restricted stock awards and  
			   performance shares						     6.0		  2.4		  2.7
		  Converison of zero-coupon convertible debt			  36.2		  1.1		  11.4
		  Accrued repurchases of common stock			   –		  (0.5)		  0.5
		  Purchase of equipment in accrued expenses		  –		  –		  2.8
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20. �Quarterly Data (Unaudited)
The following is a summary of unaudited quarterly data:

	 Year Ended December 31, 2011

	 1st Quarter	 2nd Quarter	 3rd Quarter	 4th Quarter	 Full Year

Net sales	 $1,368.4	 $1,403.3	 $1,404.5	 $1,366.1	 $5,542.3
Gross profit	 568.4	 588.2	 568.5	 549.6	 2,274.7
Net earnings attributable to Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings	 127.1	 122.9	 134.3	 135.4	 519.7

Basic earnings per common share	 1.27	 1.22	 1.34	 1.36	 5.20
Diluted earnings per common share	 1.23	 1.20	 1.31	 1.34	 5.11

	 Year Ended December 31, 2010

	 1st Quarter	 2nd Quarter	 3rd Quarter	 4th Quarter	 Full Year

Net sales	 $1,193.6	 $1,238.4	 $1,276.5	 $1,295.4	 $5,003.9
Gross profit	 506.9	 533.6	 527.7	 529.6	 2,097.8
Net earnings attributable to Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings	 132.7	 153.7	 140.0	 131.8	 558.2

Basic earnings per common share	 1.27	 1.48	 1.37	 1.29	 5.42
Diluted earnings per common share	 1.25	 1.46	 1.34	 1.26	 5.29
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About LabCorp ®

Laboratory Corporation of America® Holdings, an S&P 500 company, is a pioneer in 
commercializing new diagnostic technologies and the �rst in its industry to embrace 
genomic testing. With annual revenues of $5.5 billion in 2011, over 31,000 employees 
worldwide, and more than 220,000 clients, LabCorp offers more than 4,000 tests 
ranging from routine blood analyses to reproductive genetics to companion diagnostics. 
LabCorp furthers its scienti�c expertise and innovative clinical testing technology 
through its specialized labs and the LabCorp Specialty Testing Group: The Center for 
Molecular Biology and Pathology, National Genetics Institute, ViroMed Laboratories, Inc., 
The Center for Esoteric Testing, Litholink Corporation, Integrated Genetics, Integrated 
Oncology, DIANON Systems, Inc., Monogram Biosciences, Inc., Colorado Coagulation, 
and Endocrine Sciences. LabCorp conducts clinical trials testing through its Esoterix 
Clinical Trials Services. LabCorp clients include physicians, government agencies, 
managed care organizations, hospitals, clinical labs, and pharmaceutical companies.  
To learn more about our organization, visit our Web site at: www.labcorp.com.

Leading National Lab Provider

�s	 Fastest-growing national lab

�s	 $55 billion market

�s	 Clinical, anatomic and genomic testing

�s	 Serving clients in all 50 states and Canada

�s	 Foremost worldwide clinical trials testing business

The Important Role Laboratory Testing Plays  
in the Health Care Continuum:

Prevention 
and Wellness 

Monitoring

Preliminary Risk 
Assessment

Diagnosis

Monitoring and 
Management of 

Condition

Clinical Decision 
Regarding 

Treatment Path

Secondary 
Assessment of 

Prognosis
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Corporate Headquarters
358 South Main Street
Burlington, NC 27215
336-584-5171

Information Sources
Information about LabCorp is available from  
the following Company sources:

Investor Relations Contact
	 Stephen Anderson
	 Vice President, Investor Relations
	 336-436-5274
Center for Molecular Biology and Pathology
	 800-533-0567
Center for Occupational Testing
	 800-833-3984
Center for Esoteric Testing
	 800-334-5161 
Paternity/Identity  

800-742-3944
�LabCorp Drug Development Laboratory 

Services  
888-244-4102

Web Site
	 www.labcorp.com

Transfer Agent
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
Shareholder Services 
6201 Fifteenth Avenue
Brooklyn, NY 11219
800-937-5449
www.amstock.com

Independent Registered  
Public Accounting Firm
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
800 Green Valley Road, Suite 500
Greensboro, NC 27408

Annual Meeting
The annual meeting of shareholders will be  
held at 9.00 a.m. EDT on May 1, 2012 at  
The Paramount Theater, 128 East Front Street, 
Burlington, NC 27215.

Form 10-K
Copies of Form 10-K as �led with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission are available 
without cost to shareholders by writing to:

Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings
Investor Relations Department
358 South Main Street
Burlington, NC 27215

Safe Harbor
Forward-looking statements in this annual report 
are subject to change based on various important 
factors, including without limitation, competitive 
actions in the marketplace and adverse actions 
of governmental and other third-party payers. 
Actual results could differ materially from those 
suggested by these forward-looking statements. 
Further information on potential factors which 
could affect the Company’s �nancial results is 
included in the Company’s Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2011 and subsequent �lings.

Common Stock
The Common Stock trades on the New York 
Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol 
“LH”. The following table sets forth for the 
calendar periods indicated the high and low 
sales prices for the Common Stock reported 
on the NYSE Composite Tape.

	 2011	 2010
	 High	 Low	 High	 Low

1Q	 92.98	 86.19	 77.09	 69.49
2Q	 100.94	 92.09	 83.00	 73.12
3Q	 99.76	 76.91	 78.94	 71.58
4Q	 88.15	 74.57	 89.48	 75.75

Laboratory Corporation of America

Shareholder and Company Information

Corporate Governance, Code of Business Conduct and Ethics – The Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines, the Charters of its Audit Committee, 
Compensation Committee, Quality and Compliance Committee, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee as well as the Company’s Code 
of Business Conduct and Ethics are available on the Company’s Web Site at www.labcorp.com. You can also obtain a hard copy of these documents, 
without charge, upon written request to Stephen Anderson, Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings, 358 South Main Street, Burlington, NC 27215.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

David P. King 
Chairman and Chief Executive Of�cer  

Kerrii B. Anderson 1,2

Former Chief Executive Of�cer and 
President of Wendy’s International, Inc.

Jean-Luc Bélingard 2,3

Chairman, bioMérieux S.A.;  
retired Chairman and CEO, Ispen S.A.  

N. Anthony Coles, M.D., MPH 3

President and Chief Executive Of�cer of  
Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 

Wendy E. Lane 1,4

Chairman of Lane Holdings, Inc., 
an investment �rm

Thomas P. Mac Mahon 3 
Former Chairman and Chief Executive Of�cer of 
Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings

Robert E. Mittelstaedt, Jr. 1,4

Dean and Professor, W.P. Carey School  
of Business, Arizona State University

Arthur H. Rubenstein, MBBCh 1,3

Professor of Medicine
University of Pennsylvania
Perelman School of Medicine

M. Keith Weikel, Ph.D. 2,3

Former Senior Executive Vice President and  
Chief Operating Of�cer of HCR Manor Care, Inc.

R. Sanders Williams, M.D. 1,4

President of The J. David Gladstone Institutes

Committees: 
1 Audit 
2 Compensation
3 Quality and Compliance
4 Nominating and Corporate Governance

EXEcUTiVE MaNagEmENT

Dave King, Chairman and Chief Executive Of�cer 

Jay Boyle, Executive Vice President,  
  Chief Operating Of�cer

Brad Hayes, Executive Vice President,  
  Chief Financial Of�cer

Scott Walton, Executive Vice President,  
  Esoteric Businesses

Mark Brecher, M.D., Senior Vice President,  
  Chief Medical Of�cer

Lidia Fonseca, Senior Vice President,  
  Chief Information Of�cer

Sam Eberts, Senior Vice President,  
  Chief Legal Of�cer

Lisa Hoffman Starr, Senior Vice President,  
  Human Resources
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